
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 4 November 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 12 November 2019 at 4.00 pm
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman)
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities and HR
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and Engagement

Agenda
1.  Apologies

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2019.

(Pages 3 - 9)

3.  Disclosure of Interests (if any)

4.  Review of Gambling Statement of Principles (Policy Framework Proposal)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations recommending 
the draft Gambling Statement of Principles to Council.

(Pages 11 - 56)

Cabinet

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods and People: Principles (Key 
Decision)
Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations.

(Pages 57 - 61)

6.  Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees
Report of the Leader of the Council on matters referred to the Cabinet by the 
Council or one of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

(Pages 63 - 77)

7.  Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members
The Cabinet notes that prior to the publication of this agenda, no 
representations or questions had been received from non-Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of Cabinet held on 10 September 2019. The Cabinet 
may consider representations from non-Cabinet Members received following 
publication of the agenda for this meeting.

8.  Cabinet Forward Plan
The Cabinet’s Forward Plan for 1 December 2019 to 30 November 2020.

(to follow)

9.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent

Exclusion of the press and public
The appendices to the non-key decision relating to the purchase of land and building in Grantham 
and the third appendix of the non-key decision relating to the regeneration of a building in Stamford 
town centre contain information that is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). If members wish to discuss the content of these appendices it 
may be necessary to exclude the press and public from the meeting to ensure that information that is 
exempt under these provisions is not disclosed to them. 

10.  Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
Report of the Leader of the Council on decisions taken by Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet .

(Pages 79 - 123)



Minutes
Cabinet
Tuesday, 10 September 2019

The Deputy Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman)

Cabinet Members present

Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Hannah Westropp, Cabinet Member for Communications and 
Engagement

Non-Cabinet Members present

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Mark Whittington

Officers

Interim Chief Executive (Paul Thomas)
Interim Strategic Director, Growth (Ken Lyon)
Strategic Director, Transformation & Change (Lee Sirdifield)
Strategic Director, Commercial & Operational (Gary Smith)
Director of Finance (Richard Wyles)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

24. Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Lee. An apology was also 
received from Councillor Ray Wootten in his capacity as the Chairman of the Rural 
and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Councillor Linda Wootten in 
her capacity as the Chairman of the Constitution Committee. 

3

Agenda Item 2



25. Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 July 2019 were proposed, seconded 
and agreed as a correct record.

26. Disclosure of Interests (if any)

No interests were disclosed.

27. Local Plan (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Planning introduced his report on the proposed main 
modifications to the South Kesteven Local Plan. He set out the process that the plan 
had undergone to date and the anticipated timeline for adoption. He also drew 
Cabinet members’ attention to the deliberations of the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 5 September 2019, a note of which had been circulated, and an 
addendum to the schedule of main modifications set out in Appendix 1 to the 
circulated report. The Cabinet was provided with an overview of the methodology 
through which housing need was calculated and how it had been accommodated 
within the Local Plan. Reference was made to a number of specific development 
sites, including Manning Road, Bourne, Linchfield Road in Deeping St. James and 
the Prince William of Gloucester Barracks site in Grantham. It was noted that windfall 
sites had not been included within the housing allocations 5-year housing land 
supply.

In presenting the report, the Cabinet Member for Planning referred to amended 
proposals in respect of affordable housing; rather than a blanket 30% housing 
requirement for developments of 10 dwellings and above, one of the modifications 
proposed reducing the requirement in Grantham to 20%. This was to ensure 
developments in Grantham, where the housing market was less buoyant than the 
south of the district, were viable. This was one area about which the Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
had raised concerns. He concluded by reassuring members that the requirement for 
modifications to be made was normal, and expressed his appreciation of the officers 
who had been involved in the development of the Local Plan document.

Several other Cabinet members expressed their thanks, both to the officers who had 
been instrumental in the development of the plan, but also to those Cabinet members 
who had been involved in its development. Members saw the Plan, with the 
modifications, as a good, sound plan that would help the Council in managing 
development across the district.

One Cabinet member asked for clarification about whether Langtoft would still be 
identified as a larger village following the closure of its post office; he was advised 
that its designation would not change. Members were supportive of the document as 
they considered that it not only focussed on the development of urban areas, it also 
took account of the wishes of some of the smaller villages which had expressed a 

4



desire for limited, appropriate development. Members identified one typographical 
error in Appendix 3 on page 68 of the report pack; the document referred to FFTP 
rather than FTTP. 

The recommendations in the report were proposed, seconded and AGREED:

1. Cabinet approved the schedule of main modifications to the Local Plan 
following its public examination, as set out in Appendices 1 and 2 to the report 
of the Cabinet Member for Planning and the addendum circulated at the 
Cabinet meeting, for public consultation in order that the plan is found sound

2. Cabinet approved the draft Local Development Scheme as set out in Appendix 
4 to the report of the Cabinet Member for Planning setting out the timetable for 
the Local Plan and associated development plan documents

28. University Centre, South Kesteven (Key Decision)

The Cabinet Member for Growth presented her report which related to the 
continuation of an ongoing project to deliver a university centre in Grantham. She 
stated that the Council had received a grant of £2m from the Greater Lincolnshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership to construct a building on St. Peter’s Hill to serve as a 
University Centre delivered in partnership with the University of Lincoln. The building 
had been delivered as part of the development of the Savoy Cinema in Grantham. 
The Cabinet member stated that the University Centre would act as a key component 
to drive the local economy.

Members were advised that Lindum Construction had been appointed through a 
framework to undertake feasibility and pre-construction work; the report was asking 
members to approve their appointment to progress the capital fit-out of the facility. 
The Cabinet Member for Growth added that in order to comply with the outputs within 
the Greater Lincolnshire LEP contract, the fit-out would need to be completed by 
January 2020.

Members of the Cabinet recognised the advantages that having a University Centre 
in Grantham could bring, both to the town and the wider area. The target number of 
learners had been based on liaison work between InvestSK, the University of Lincoln 
and local businesses, and the strong sign-up for the initial courses, meant that the 
Cabinet Member for Growth considered the target of 340 learners to be reasonable. 
It was noted that the final contract sum had yet to be presented but Cabinet members 
were reassured that Lindum Construction was aware of the Council’s budget for the 
project.

The recommendations in the report were proposed and seconded, and it was 
AGREED:

1. To enter into a contract with Lindum Construction Services Ltd to deliver the 
capital fit out works for the University Centre, Grantham to a total value not 
exceeding £680,000

5



2. To delegate in-project decisions to the Interim Chief Executive and Strategic 
Director, Growth, in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member

29. Witham Slea Blue/Green Corridor (Key Decision)

In presenting her report on entering into a funding agreement with the Ministry of 
Housing and Local Government to access European Regional Development Fund 
grant funding, the Cabinet Member for Growth gave an overview of the Witham Slea 
blue / green corridor project. She explained that the project had been underway for a 
number of years and reminded members that Council had agreed budget for South 
Kesteven District Council’s contribution to the project. The recommendations in the 
report related to the signing of a formal agreement that would allow the project to be 
taken to the next phase. She made reference to a budget amendment that would be 
brought before Council but explained that the Council’s agreed commitment of 
£60,000 per annum for three-years would not change. The amendment was 
necessary because the Council was acting as the lead partner and financial body.

The Cabinet Member for Growth highlighted the benefits of the programme, which 
included conservation of wildlife areas, new habitat creation, improving residential 
amenity and the quality of the environment for residents and visitors. These benefits 
would be delivered through 14 projects.

During discussion, members of the Cabinet recognised the benefits that the project 
could provide in respect of the visitor economy and how well the collaborative 
approach had worked. Cabinet members acknowledged the work that had been done 
on the project by the current and previous Cabinet members. In response to a 
question raised by a non-Cabinet member, the Cabinet Member for Planning stated 
that the officers that were to deliver the project would be employed by SKDC.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED:

1. That the authority enters into a Funding Agreement with the Ministry of 
Housing and Local Government

2. To delegate the signing of the contract to the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
the Strategic Director, Growth

3. That the authority appoints a suitable Cabinet Member to the board for this 
programme of works and delegates in-project decisions to the project board

4. The Cabinet recommends to Council an amendment of £1,056,615 to the 
Budget Framework to include expenditure in relation to the Witham Slea Blue / 
Green programme as per the financing arrangements set out in paragraphs 
1.1 and 1.2 of the report of the Cabinet Member for Growth

6



30. Climate change emergency

The Cabinet Member, Commercial and Operations presented his report on declaring 
a climate emergency and the recommendations within the report. He referred to work 
that was already being undertaken by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and other aspects of the council’s operations, stating that he believed that 
the time was right to make a statement with some meaning behind it. In presenting 
the recommendations, reference was made to the council’s responsibility to reduce 
its own carbon impact as well as its community leadership role. The Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations stated that there was no precise definition of a 
climate emergency, however it was recognised as a situation where immediate action 
was required to mitigate carbon impact beyond government targets. He concluded by 
saying that the report was about the whole of the Council and how everything it did 
should be influenced by this ambition.

Other Cabinet members reiterated the importance of the Council’s community 
leadership role and referred to the actions being taken by other bodies, with specific 
reference being made to the Local Government Association and Lincolnshire County 
Council. When the matter had been considered by Lincolnshire County Council, it 
had been suggested that it should aim to achieve a net-zero carbon position by 2030 
however the infrastructure was not in place to support this target. It was noted that 
some of the easiest savings would be achieved early in the programme and that to 
get to the ultimate target departments would need to ensure a co-ordinated approach 
was taken.

A suggested amendment was made to the wording of recommendation 2(d), which 
would see a funding commitment of up to £50,000 to enable external advice and the 
recruitment of a Climate Change Officer, with the agreement of the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to drive forward the Council’s ambition to be net-
zero carbon. The Cabinet Member, Commercial and Operations agreed to 
incorporate the revised wording within his proposal.

A non-Cabinet member stated that he did not feel that the targets within the report 
were sufficiently ambitious, favouring a target to achieve a net-zero carbon position 
by 2030. Reference was made to the proportion of councils that had already agreed 
to declare a climate emergency and to take action to reduce their carbon footprint. 
Cabinet members felt a measured approach was more beneficial; the formation of 
the working group would identify the Council’s current position and help understand 
how the agenda could be driven forward. Cabinet members distinguished the actions 
being taken by South Kesteven District Council because of the budgetary provision it 
was making to resource achieving a net-zero carbon position. The Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee was considered a key body for driving forward the 
climate agenda on behalf of the Council.

A question was raised about the membership of the proposed working group. The 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that the Chief Executive 
would form the task and finish group and it was the ambition of Cabinet members 
that it would seek to engage any member who wanted to be involved in the process. 
It was also hoped that the task and finish group and the Environment Overview and 

7



Scrutiny Committee would look to see what actions had been taken by other 
Councils. 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED: 

1. Cabinet recommends to Council that South Kesteven District Council declares 
a ‘climate emergency’

2. In response to this, Cabinet recommends that Council:

a. Confirms the political ambition to reduce the organisation’s carbon 
footprint by 2030 and to become net-zero carbon by 2050. This 
encompasses the Council’s wholly owned companies

b. Recognises the importance of the much more far-reaching impact of the 
Council’s community leadership role to reduce South Kesteven’s 
carbon footprint (e.g. residents, businesses, other public sector 
organisations, visitors/commuters, etc.)

c. Requests the Interim Chief Executive to establish a ‘Climate Change 
Action’ task and finish group to

i. Identify how the Council’s activities can work towards being net-
zero carbon

ii. Consider the latest climate science and expert advice on 
solutions

iii. Consider systematically the climate change impact of each area 
of the Council’s activities 

iv. Establish any budgetary implications
v. Liaise with the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

and report initial findings to the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in spring 2020

d. Allocate up to £50,000 to enable external advice and the recruitment of 
a Climate Change Officer with the agreement of the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to drive forward the Council’s 
ambition to be net-zero carbon

31. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees

The Deputy Leader of the Council presented the report circulated with the agenda, 
which stated that no matters had been referred to Cabinet by the Council and 
summarised those matters that had been considered by overview and scrutiny 
committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 9 July 2019.

8



32. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members

The first question put to members of the Cabinet asked whether an update was 
available in respect of plans regarding leisure provision within the Deepings. The 
Cabinet Member for Growth stated that the Councillor had been advised of the 
current position by the Interim Chief Executive and stated that the information that 
had been provided in that update could not be shared more widely as it was still 
commercially sensitive. She referred to the commitment that she had made at the last 
meeting of the Council and stated that she would be able to provide an update at the 
Council meeting on 26 September 2019. The commitment to delivering new leisure 
facilities for the Deepings was reaffirmed and consultation was promised for later in 
2019. Reassurance was also provided that as soon as a site had been secured, it 
would be announced.

Reference was made to a freedom of information request that a member had 
submitted; part of that request asked for information on the Council’s energy use. He 
identified that a discrepancy between the information provided in response to that 
request and information that had been provided in 2009 and 2012. These figures 
would be discussed at a forthcoming meeting of the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and he asked that the correct information be made available for 
that meeting. The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations stated that the 
information was being verified, but the person who was working on the request was 
currently on leave. The Deputy Leader assured the Councillor that the Chief 
Executive would look into the matter and come back to him.

33. Cabinet Forward Plan

Cabinet members noted the report presented by the Deputy Leader of the Council, 
appended to which was the Cabinet’s Froward Plan. The Forward Plan gave an 
indication of the items that would be presented to the Cabinet during the following 12-
month period. The plan also included items that were scheduled to be considered at 
meetings of the Council during that period.

34. Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key 
Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.

The Cabinet noted the report presented by the Deputy Leader of the Council, which 
informed Cabinet member of decisions that had been taken by individual members 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet was held on 9 July 2019.

35. Close of meeting

The meeting was closed at 17:06.

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
12 November 2019

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations

        

Gambling Statement of Principles
The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council, as the Licensing Authority, to review and publish a 
Statement of Principles every three years.  The current Statement is due for renewal by January 
2020.  This report presents the amended Statement for consideration.

Report Author

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental

01476 406319

a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Regulatory All Wards

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director – Commercial and 
Operations 1 October 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial and 
Operations 3 October 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 14 October 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That Cabinet recommends to Council that the amended South Kesteven District 
Council Gambling Statement of Principles is suitable to be considered for 
adoption.

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council is the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the Gambling Act 2005, “the Act” 

and is responsible for licensing gambling premises and issuing a range of permits to 
authorise other gambling activities in the district. 

1.2 Under the Act, the Council is responsible for publishing a Statement of Principles, “the 
Statement” every three years.  The current Statement was adopted by the Council on 17 
November 2016 and came into force on 1 January 2017.  It is due for renewal by January 
2020.  

1.3 The Statement sets out the general approach the Council will take when carrying out its 
regulatory role under the Act and promoting the licensing objectives.

1.4 In formulating the Statement, the Authority must have regard to the statutory guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission.  Once adopted, the Statement is the guiding principle 
for use by Members and Officers when applying the Act.

1.5 The review of the current Statement proposes some minor amendments including updates 
to the current number of licenced premises and permits in the district and to include more 
robust local risk assessment requirements. No changes to the intent or direction of the 
Statement are proposed.  The draft revised Statement is at Appendix 1. The proposed 
amendments from the current Statement are highlighted (red text indicates insertions, 
yellow highlighting indicates updates, removals are struck through).  

1.6 As amendments are proposed, the Council is required to carry out a public consultation on 
these amendments.  This was undertaken for 6 weeks between 22 July and 2 September 
2019. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The Council’s Constitution states that Gambling and Lotteries Licensing (policy) is under the 

remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Statement must be 
agreed by Council.  The Licensing Committee is responsible for the Licensing function as 
set out in the Functions Regulations and has been made aware of the review of the 
Statement.

2.2 As required by the Act, a range of “Responsible Authorities” and other “Interested Parties” 
were consulted on the proposed amendments to the Statement.  Details of the consultation 
were placed on the Council’s website and a public notice was placed in the local press and 
the Council’s public notice board.  

2.3 Two consultation responses were received and were considered by the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17 September 2019.   No changes to the draft 
amended Statement were proposed by the Committee as a result of the consultation.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council as the Licensing Authority is required by the Act to review and publish its 

Statement of Principles at least every 3 years.  If the Council thinks necessary in the light of 
the review it may choose not to make any revisions.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 That the Council reviews and publishes a Statement of Principles in accordance with section 

349 of the Act. 

12



5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 To ensure that the Council reviews and publishes a Statement of Principles in accordance 

with its statutory duties.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The Council’s Constitution requires that the Gambling Statement of Principles is approved 

by Council in all cases.  

6.2 In accordance with the Act, before the Statement can come into effect it must be published 
for at least 4 weeks.  

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Any costs incurred 

as part of the review of the Statement of Principles can be met from existing resources.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Section 349 of the Act requires the Council to prepare a Statement of Principles to cover 

each successive period of three years.  The Statement must contain the principles that it 
proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Act during that period. The Council 
must then publish the Statement.

8.2 In preparing its Statement the Council must have regard to the Statutory Guidance.  This 
Guidance cannot anticipate every set of circumstances that may arise, and licensing 
authorities may depart from it where they consider it would be right to do so.  However, there 
should be strong reasons for doing so which will need to be clearly expressed and explained 
if a licensing authority is to avoid judicial review or challenge on appeal for failing to take the 
Guidance into account.

8.3 The Act specifies that the Statement of Principles must be agreed by Council and cannot 
be delegated to the Licensing Committee (section 154 of the Act).  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken and is at Appendix 2.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No specific risks have been identified.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 Whilst the changes are not expected to have a substantive impact, the wider Statement is 

expected to have a positive impact, particularly in relation to young and vulnerable people. 

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified. 

13 Background Papers
13.1 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 17 September 2019

13.2 Gambling Commission Statutory Guidance to Licensing Authorities 

13

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3784&Ver=4
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5.pdf


14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 – Draft revised Statement of Principles 

14.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

12 August 2019

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

17 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  28 November 2018

14



Gambling Statement of Principles
2019-2022

Principles to be applied in exercising licensing functions under the Gambling 
Act 2005

Date Version Approver Comments
12/6/19 1.0 Review- draft for consultation 

15

Appendix 1



2

 
Contents
Part A....................................................................................................................................3

1.   Introduction ...............................................................................................................3
2.   The Licensing Objectives ..........................................................................................3
3.   General Matters ........................................................................................................4
4.   Declaration ................................................................................................................6
5.   Responsible Authorities ............................................................................................6
6.   Interested parties ......................................................................................................6
7.     Exchange of Information ...........................................................................................7
8.  Enforcement and inspection......................................................................................8
9. Risk Assessment and Local Area Profiles ................................................................9

Part B  - Premises Licences ...............................................................................................11
1.   General Principles...................................................................................................11
2.   Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)................................................................................18
3.      Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) .....................................................19
4. Casinos ...................................................................................................................19
5.  Bingo premises .......................................................................................................19
6.  Betting premises .....................................................................................................20
7.  Tracks .....................................................................................................................21
8.     Travelling Fairs ........................................................................................................21
9.   Provisional Statements ...........................................................................................21
10.  Reviews...................................................................................................................22
11.  Appeals ...................................................................................................................23

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries ....................................24
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits.............24
2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications ...................25
3. Prize Gaming ..........................................................................................................25
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits ..............................................................26
5. Temporary Use Notices ..........................................................................................27
6. Occasional Use Notices ..........................................................................................28
7.      Lotteries ..................................................................................................................28
8.      Review ....................................................................................................................29
9. Glossary ..................................................................................................................29

APPENDIX 1.......................................................................................................................30
APPENDIX 2.......................................................................................................................32
APPENDIX 3.......................................................................................................................33

16



3

Part A

1.   Introduction

1.1 South Kesteven District Council (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Licensing Authority’) 
is responsible for the licensing of premises and the issue of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’).  The Licensing Authority’s 
main functions under the Act are to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

 issue provisional statements; 
 regulate members’ clubs who wish to undertake certain gaming activities, via 

the issuing of club gaming permits and / or club machine permits;
 issue club machine permits to commercial clubs;
 grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 

Family Entertainment Centres; 
 receive notifications, from premises licensed for the sale and consumption of 

alcohol on the premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or 
fewer gaming machines; 

 issue gaming machine permits, to premises licensed for the sale and 
consumption of alcohol on the premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) where 
there are more than two machines; 

 register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 
 issue prize gaming permits; 
 receive and endorse temporary use notices (TUNs); 
 receive occasional use notices (OUNs); 
 provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 

and permits issued (see section 7 within Part A of this Policy Statement 
‘Exchange of Information’);

 maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions.

1.2 This Policy (Statement of Principles) is intended to provide clarity to applicants, 
interested parties and Responsible Authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to assist applicants but does not 
form part of this policy.

2.   The Licensing Objectives

2.1 In exercising most of their functions under the Act, Licensing Authorities must have 
regard to the Licensing Objectives as set out in Part 1, Section 1 of the Act and 
within the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  The 
Licensing Objectives are:

 to prevent gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;

 to ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;
 to protect children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling.

17



4

NB: It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.”

2.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that, as per Part 8 Section 153 of the Act, in 
making decisions about Premises Licences and Temporary Use Notices it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:

 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives
 in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles

2.3 The Gambling Commission has the power to issue two types of code of practice. 
The first is a social responsibility (SR) code. An SR code must be followed and has 
the force of a licence condition. The Commission may also issue ordinary codes 
(OC) which are intended to set out industry best practice. They are not mandatory 
but operators are expected to follow them unless they have alternative 
arrangements in place that they can demonstrate are equally effective. Both codes 
are set out in the Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  (LCCP) 
or as Gambling codes of practice - consolidated for all forms of gambling.

2.4 S.153 of the Act requires licensing authorities, in exercising their functions, to have 
regard to the Code of Practice.

3.   General Matters

3.1 South Kesteven District Council is situated in the south-west corner of the county of 
Lincolnshire which contains 7 District Councils in total.  The area has a population 
of 141,700 (Office for National Statistics 2017 mid-year population estimates) 
making it the second largest district in the County in terms of population.  In terms 
of area it is the fourth largest, covering 365 square miles.  The area is mainly rural 
with 4 urban areas comprising of Grantham in the north of the district, with the 
towns of Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings in the south of the district.  
Additionally there are 100 villages and hamlets in the district.

3.2 At the time of reviewing this policy the Licensing Authority was responsible for the 
following number of Premises Licences and Permits:

Betting Premises 11
Bingo Premises 1
Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 2
Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 1
Club Gaming Machine Permits 10
Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permits – over 2 machines

7

Alcohol Licensed Premises Notifications of up to 2 
Gaming Machines

124

Small Society Lotteries 137
Prize Gaming Permit (Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment)

1

18

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/LCCP/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.aspx


5

3.3 The Licensing Authority has worked in partnership with the other Councils in the 
county in preparing this Statement of Principles which is based, in part, on the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, issued by the Gambling Commission. 

 
3.4 In adopting this Statement of Principles the Licensing Authority recognises its 

duties to consider the impact of all its functions and decisions on crime and 
disorder under the requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
The Council acknowledges the benefits to the community of properly regulating 
gambling in the district.

3.5 The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated and procedural arrangements for 
the establishment of Licensing Authorities.  

3.6 Licensing Committees established under Part 2, Section 6 of the Licensing Act 
2003 are also the relevant Committees for the purpose of gambling functions.  
Therefore, the same Committee that deals with applications and other issues in 
relation to the Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for Premises Licence 
applications and other issues (e.g. permits) in relation to gambling.

3.7 The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are regulated by Part 2, Section 9 of 
the Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made under that section.  Particular 
provision can be made for proceedings relating solely to the Licensing Act 2003 
functions or just the Gambling Act 2005 functions.

3.8 The functions of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the 
Licensing Committee, by a Sub-Committee or by one or more officers acting under 
delegated authority.  Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the table at 
Appendix 1 of this document. 

3.9 Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 
Statement of Principles which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed as required and any amended parts re-consulted 
upon. The statement must be then re-published.

3.10 The Licensing Authority consulted widely upon this Statement of Principles before 
finalising and publishing.  A list of the parties consulted is provided in Appendix 2.  
The consultation period ran for 6 weeks.

3.11 The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties be consulted by 
Licensing Authorities:

 the Chief Officer of Police (Chief Constable)
 one or more persons who appear to the Licensing Authority to represent the 

interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Licensing Authority’s 
area

 one or more persons who appear to the Licensing Authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Licensing 
Authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005

3.12 A copy of this document can be found on the Council’s website.  Copies will be 
available from the Council Offices, St Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 
6PZ.

19

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


6

3.13 It should be noted that this Statement of Principles will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application or apply 
for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and 
according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.

Further information is available on the Council’s website 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk

4.   Declaration

4.1 In producing the final statement the Licensing Authority declares that it has had 
regard to the Licensing Objectives of the Gambling Act 2005; the guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission; and any responses from those consulted on this 
statement.

5.   Responsible Authorities

5.1 This Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Part 8, section 157 (h) of the Act to designate, 
in writing, a body which is competent to advise the Authority about the protection of 
children from harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area;

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group; 

 that this body has proven documented experience in dealing with the protection 
of children.  

5.2 The body considered competent by this Licensing Authority for this purpose is 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board

6.   Interested parties

6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications or apply for 
a review of an existing licence.  Interested parties are defined in the Act as follows:

“For the purposes of this part a person is an Interested Party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the licence or to which the application is made, the person:

a. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities

b. has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities
c. represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) e.g. Members of 

Parliament (MPs) and Ward Councillors.”

6.2 Principles of determining Interested Parties

The Licensing Authority is required, by regulations, to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a 
person is an interested party. 

 
The Licensing Authority, in determining whether a person is an Interested Party, 
will consider each case on its merits.  The Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its 

20

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


7

decision making.  In reaching its decision the Licensing Authority will consider 
factors such as the likelihood of the person/business being affected by the 
licensable activities at the premises as well as the geographical proximity.  Larger 
premises may affect people over a broader geographical area than smaller 
premises offering the same facilities.

“Business interests” will be given its widest possible interpretation and may include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices.

Interested parties can be people who are democratically elected such as 
Councillors and MPs.  This will include County, District and Parish Councillors 
providing they represent the ward likely to be affected.  Other than these persons 
the Licensing Authority will require written evidence that a person represents 
someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activity(ies) and / or has business interest(s) that might 
be affected by the authorised activity(ies).  A letter from one of these persons 
requesting the representation is sufficient.

6.3 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views then 
care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing Committee 
dealing with the licence application.  If there are any doubts, advice should be 
sought from the Council’s Legal and Democratic Services.

7.     Exchange of Information

7.1 The Licensing Authority may share information received in the exercise of its 
functions with the Gambling Commission; a Responsible Authority as defined by 
the Act; an authorised officer of another Licensing Authority; The Gambling Appeal 
Tribunal; The National Lottery Commission; the Secretary of State and law 
enforcement agencies for purposes connected with the prevention and detection of 
crime.   Personal details will only be shared for this purpose if required to do so by 
law. 

7.2 The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005 in its 
exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 
2018 will not be contravened.

7.3 The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities as well as any relevant regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State under powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

7.4 The Licensing Authority will inform the Gambling Commission without delay if:

 information that causes the Licensing Authority to question the suitability of a 
person or business holding or applying to hold an Operating Licence is 
received

 there are persistent or serious disorder problems that an Operator could or 
should do more to prevent so that the Commission may consider the continuing 
suitability of the operator to hold an Operating Licence

 it comes to the Licensing Authority’s attention that alcohol-licensed premises, 
clubs or institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week which involves 
significant stakes and prizes that make it possible that £2,000 in seven days is 
being exceeded

21



8

 there is any other reasonable and relevant information that the Licensing 
Authority is of the opinion that the Gambling Commission should be made 
aware of

7.5 Should any protocols be established regarding information exchange with other 
bodies then they will be made available on request.  

7.6 The Council is a signatory to the joint Protocol on Information Exchange under the 
provisions of Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 between South 
Kesteven District Council and all other Responsible Authority partners within 
Lincolnshire. The Council will seek to use this provision as appropriate.

8.  Enforcement and inspection

8.1 Licensing Authorities are required by regulation, under the Gambling Act 2005, to 
state the principles to be applied by the Authority in exercising the functions under 
Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises and the powers under 
Part 18, Section 346 of the Act to instigate criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified.

8.2 The Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and it will endeavour to be:

 proportionate - regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies 
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised

 accountable - regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 
public scrutiny

 consistent - rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly
 transparent - regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly
 targeted - regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects.

8.3 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of 
the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences 
and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and Personal Licences.  It is also worth noting 
that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be 
dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling 
Commission.

8.4 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities this 
Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible.  

8.5 The Licensing Authority has implemented a risk-based inspection programme 
based on:

 the Licensing Objectives
 relevant Codes of Practice
 guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
 the principles set out in this Statement of Principles

8.6 This Licensing Authority carries out risk-based regular operations with other 
agencies including the Gambling Commission and the Police to ensure the 

22



9

objectives are being promoted.  This includes test purchasing operations to ensure 
children and the vulnerable are being protected where required. 

8.7 As a general rule the Licensing Authority will consider formal action where there is 
evidence that the Licensing Objectives are being adversely affected.

8.8 Premises Licence holders are advised that where, following the receipt of a 
warning or warnings in relation to a Premises Licence breach or breaches, an 
Operator subsequently breaches the licence conditions the Licensing Authority will 
seek to review the Premises Licence.  

8.9 The Licensing Authority keeps itself informed of developments regarding the work 
of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of 
Local Authorities.

8.10 In considering enforcement action the Licensing Authority will bear in mind the 
Human Rights Act 1998 in particular - Part I, The Convention, Rights And 
Freedoms:

Article 6 Right To A Fair Trial
Article 8 Right To Respect For Private And Family Life
Article 10 Freedom Of Expression

and Part II, The First Protocol:

Article 1 Protection of Property: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the 
peaceful enjoyment of his possessions

8.11 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with the Police and other 
enforcing Authorities.  These protocols will provide for the targeting of agreed 
problem and high-risk premises whilst applying a lighter touch to low-risk premises.

8.12 Enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s own 
enforcement policy which reflects the agreed principles that are consistent with the 
Regulatory Code.  To this end the key principles of targeting, consistency, 
transparency and proportionality will be maintained.

9. Risk Assessment and Local Area Profiles

9.1 Risk Assessment

9.2 The Licensing Authority expects applicants to have a good understanding of the 
area in which they either operate or intend to operate.  The applicant will have to 
provide evidence that they meet the criteria set out in this policy and demonstrate 
that in operating the premises they will promote the licensing objectives.  

9.3 The Gambling Commission have introduced a Social Responsibility Code of 
Practice requiring operators of premises used for gambling to assess the local risks 
to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those 
risks. In making these risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant 
matters identified in the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Licensing Principles. 
The Commission have also produced an ordinary Code of Practice stating this risk 
assessment should be shared with the Licensing Authority in the following 
circumstances:

23



10

 when applying for premises licence, 
 applying for a variation to existing licensed premises, or 
 otherwise on request.

9.4 The Licensing Authority expects applicants for Premises Licences in its area to 
comply with the risk assessment requirement. The risk assessment should 
demonstrate the applicant has considered, as a minimum:

 local crime statistics;
 any problems in the area relating to gambling establishments;
 the location of any nearby sensitive premises, such as hostels and other 

facilities used by vulnerable persons e.g. drug and alcohol addictions;
 the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 

leisure/community centres and other areas where children will gather 
 whether there is any indication of problems in the area with young persons 

attempting to access adult gambling facilities of that type of gambling premises 
in the area;

 how vulnerable people, including people with gambling dependencies are 
protected;

 whether there is a prevalence of street drinking in the area, which may increase 
the risk of vulnerable persons using the premises;

 any indication in the area of young people attempting to access adult gambling 
facilities of the type offered in the area.

9.5 Applicants should liaise with other gambling operators in the area to identify risks 
and consult with any relevant responsible authorities as necessary.

9.6 Local Area Profiles

9.7 Risk assessments can make reference to the Council’s area profile which may be 
compiled with respect to reported gambling-related problems in an area.  At the 
time of preparing this edition of the Statement of Licensing Policy, there has been 
no evidence presented to South Kesteven District Council to support the assertion 
that any part of the area had or is experiencing problems from gambling activities.  
The position will be kept under review and if it changes, research will be carried out 
to discover the extent of the problems and to prepare an Area Profile accordingly.  

24



11

Part B - Premises Licences

1.   General Principles
 
1.1 Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act 

2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions, issued 
by the Secretary of State.  Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default 
conditions and also attach others where it is believed to be appropriate.

This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about Premises 
Licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it 
thinks it is:

 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives and
 in accordance with this Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles

1.2 Though licensing authorities are required to ‘aim to permit’ gambling, there is wide 
scope for them to impose conditions on Premises Licences or to reject, review or 
revoke Premises Licences where there is a clear evidence of conflict with the 
relevant Codes of Practice, Guidance to Licensing Authorities, the licensing 
objectives or this Statement of Licensing Policy.

1.3 Licensing authorities can request any information from an operator they may 
require in order to make licensing decisions.  The Gambling Act 2005 requires a 
minimum level of information which must be provided, but the Gambling 
Commission state in their Guidance to Licensing Authorities that this does not 
preclude licensing authorities from making reasonable requests for any additional 
information they may require to satisfy themselves their decision is reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives and Codes of Practice. This may include, 
for example, a business plan or the operator’s own risk assessment with regard to 
the licensing objectives at a local level.

1.4 It is appreciated that, as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, “…moral or ethical objections to gambling are not a valid reason to 
reject applications for premises licences” and also that unmet demand is not a 
criterion for a Licensing Authority.

1.5 Premises Licences authorise the provision of gambling facilities on the following:

 Casino premises
 Bingo premises
 Betting premises (including race tracks used by betting intermediaries)
 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)
 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)

1.6 Definition of ‘premises’

Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  Different Premises Licences cannot 
apply in respect of a single premise at different times.  However, it is possible for a 

25



12

single building to be subject to more than one Premises Licence, provided that they 
are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to 
allow large, multiple-unit premises such as a theme park, track or shopping centre 
to obtain discrete Premises Licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. 
However, the Licensing Authority will pay particular attention if there are issues 
about the sub-division of a single building or plot and will ensure that mandatory 
conditions relating to access between premises are observed.  Each case will be 
judged on its individual merits.

1.7 The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that 
“…In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject of 
an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But that does not mean 
that 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the 
basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different 
parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate premises will 
depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an 
important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for 
discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  However, the 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or 
temporarily separated for example by ropes or moveable partitions can be properly 
regarded as different premises.”

This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that:

“Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications for 
multiple premises licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following: 

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 
gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.  
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to, or closely observe gambling where 
they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of 
different premises is not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling 
area.  In this context it should normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed premises or premises with a permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence.”

1.8 The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the Licensing Authority should be 
aware of in determining whether two or more proposed premises are truly separate 
which may include:

 Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises?
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 

someone else?
 Can each of the premises by accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?

26

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


13

The Licensing Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision depending on all the circumstances of the case.

1.9 The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type, 
stated within their Guidance to Local Authorities, are reproduced below:

Casinos

 the principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined 
at 7.23 of the guidance)

 no entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly 
by children and/or young persons

 no customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence.

Adult gaming centres

 no customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises.

Betting Shops

 access must be from a street (as defined at 7.23 of the guidance) or from 
another premises with a betting premises licence

 no direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail 
sale of merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an entrance to a 
betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at 
the back of a café – the whole area would have to be licensed.

Tracks

 no customer should be able to access the premises directly from:

o a casino
o an adult gaming centre.

Bingo premises

 no customer should be able to access the premises directly from:

o a casino
o an adult gaming centre
o a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre

 no customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

o a casino
o an adult gaming centre
o a betting premises, other than a track.

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains 
further guidance which this Licensing Authority will also take into account in its 

27



14

decision making.

1.10 Premises ‘ready for gambling’ 

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that “…a 
licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises 
that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for 
gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought into use.”

1.11 In deciding whether a Premises Licence can be granted where there is outstanding 
construction or alteration works at the premises this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:

 first, “…whether…the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling
 second, …whether…appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place”

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if 
the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a 
Provisional Statement can be made instead.

Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a Licence subject to condition but it is not obliged to grant such 
a Licence.

More detailed examples of the circumstances in which a Provisional Statement 
may be granted can be found at Section 11 of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

1.10 Location 

This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises, but that considerations in terms of the Licensing 
Objectives are relevant to its decision making.  

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues 
of crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon with regard to 
areas where gambling premises should not be located this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon 
the applicant showing how potential concerns can be overcome.

1.11 Planning permission 

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: “In 
determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not take into consideration any irrelevant 
matter, in effect those not related to gambling and the licensing objectives.  One 
example of an irrelevant factor would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining 
planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal.”

28



15

1.12 This Licensing Authority will not take into account any irrelevant matters as per the 
above guidance.  In addition this Licensing Authority notes the following excerpt 
from the guidance.

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or 
comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Nor should fire or health 
and safety risks be taken into account.  Those matters should be dealt with under 
relevant planning control, building and other regulations, and not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing 
authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant 
obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence 
application.  Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or 
prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or 
building.”

1.13 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 

This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 
regulatory systems where possible, including planning.  This Licensing Authority 
will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval in its consideration of it.  It will though 
listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which cannot be 
met by Licensees due to planning restrictions should such a situation arise.

1.14 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not be 
taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, 
buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence.

1.15 Licensing Objectives 

Premises Licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives.  With regard to these Objectives, this Licensing Authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and 
some comments are made below:

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities however does envisage that 
Licensing Authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling 
premises in terms of this Licensing Objective.  Thus, where an area has known 
high levels of organised crime this Licensing Authority will consider carefully 
whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions 
may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing 
Authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider factors such as whether Police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so as to make that 
distinction.

29



16

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated that it 
would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however more of a role 
with regard to tracks, which is explained in more detail within the ‘Tracks’ section of 
this document. 

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling 

This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that this objective means “…preventing them 
from taking part in gambling and for there to be restrictions on advertising so that 
gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that 
makes them particularly attractive to children...”.  This Licensing Authority will 
therefore consider, as suggested in this guidance, whether specific measures are 
required at particular premises with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas 
etc. 

This Licensing Authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Code for 
Socially Responsible Advertising as regards this licensing objective in relation to 
specific premises.  

In considering the term ‘vulnerable persons’ it is noted that the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance does not seek to offer a definition but states that “…it does 
for regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more 
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who may 
not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to mental 
health needs, learning disability, or substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs.”  
This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case 
basis.  

1.16 Conditions 

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises
 reasonable in all other respects

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider 
utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of Door Supervisors 
and appropriate signage for adult-only areas etc.  There are specific comments 
made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This Licensing 
Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as 
to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple Premises Licences.  

30



17

Such measures may include the supervision of entrances, segregation of gambling 
from non-gambling areas frequented by children and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the licensing 
objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

This Licensing Authority will also ensure that where Category C or above machines 
are on offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
Premises Licences are applicable.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than 
one Premises Licence, provided each Licence relates to a specified area of the 
track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will consider the impact upon the third Licensing Objective, (i.e. 
the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling), and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are 
distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter.

It is noted that there are conditions which this Licensing Authority cannot attach to 
premises licences which are:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated)

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes.  

1.17 Door Supervisors 

If there are concerns that premises may attract disorder or be subject to 
unauthorised access by children and young persons, then this Licensing Authority 
may require that door supervisors control entrances to the premises.  This 
Licensing Authority recognises that each premises application shall be treated on 
its own merit. In addition, the Licensing Authority shall take into account the 
previous trading history of the type of premises proposed and that any decision 
shall be necessary and proportionate.

31



18

1.18 Where door supervisors are imposed as a condition on a premises licence (except 
casino or bingo premises), Part 8, Section 178 of the Act requires that any person 
employed in that capacity will hold a relevant licence issued by the Security 
Industry Authority (SIA).

2.   Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)

2.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for 
example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.  

2.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 
such as:

 proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 supervision of entrances / machine areas (e.g. use of door supervisors)
 physical separation of areas
 location of entry
 notices / signage  
 specific opening hours
 self-exclusion schemes
 provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare, the National Gambling Helpline. 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

2.3 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to adopt an approved proof of age 
scheme (such as Challenge 21) for staff to be suitably trained and aware of the 
gambling laws, social responsibility and statutory requirements relating to age 
restrictions.

32



19

3. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)

3.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the Authority, for example, that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult- only 
gaming machine areas.  Children and young persons are permitted to enter an 
FEC and may play on Category D machines.  They are not permitted to play on 
Category C machines, and it is a requirement that there is clear segregation 
between the two types of machine, to prevent access by children and young 
persons to Category C machines.

3.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 
such as:

 CCTV
 supervision of entrances / machine areas (e.g. use of door supervisors)
 physical separation of areas
 location of entry
 notices / signage 
 specific opening hours
 self-exclusion schemes
 provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare, the National Gambling Helpline. 
 measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children 

on the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

3.3 The Licensing Authority expects that there will be dedicated staff supervision of 
FEC areas whether using a premises licence or permit. The Authority expects 
applicants to provide evidence to show that such direct supervision is in place.

3.4 This Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to 
the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences 
covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be 
delineated. 

4. Casinos

4.1 Resolution not to issue casino licences – this Licensing Authority has not passed a 
‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 but is aware 
that it has the power to do so.   Should this Licensing Authority decide in the future 
to pass such a resolution, it will update this statement of principles with details of 
that resolution. Any such resolution will be made by the Full Council.

5.  Bingo premises

5.1 This Licensing Authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities states in paragraph 18.5:

“Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any 
bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  An operator may choose 
to vary their licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and 

33



20

then apply for a new premise licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the 
aim of creating separate premises in that area, essentially providing multiple 
licensed premises within a single building or site.  Before issuing additional bingo 
premises licences, licensing authorities need to consider whether bingo can be 
played at each of those new premises”. 

5.2 This Licensing Authority also notes the guidance at paragraph 18.9 of the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, regarding the unusual 
circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent 
premises might be permitted and in particular that it is not permissible to locate 
sixteen category B gaming machines in one of the resulting premises as the 
gaming machine entitlement for that premises would be exceeded.

5.3 Children and young persons are allowed into bingo premises however, they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if Category B and C machines are made 
available for use these must be separated from areas where children and young 
people are allowed.

5.4 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
the Licensing Authority recognises that it is important that if children are allowed to 
enter premises licensed for bingo that they do not participate in gambling other 
than on Category D machines.  Where Category C or above machines are 
available in the bingo premises to which children are admitted, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by staff of the Operator or the Licence holder
 at the entrance to and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

5.5 Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed premises and it reaches a certain 
threshold, it will no longer be authorised as equal chance gaming and a Bingo 
Operating Licence will need to be obtained from the Gambling Commission.  The 
aim of this provision is to prevent bingo becoming a predominant commercial 
activity on non-gambling premises.

6.  Betting premises

6.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible for issuing and monitoring Premises 
Licences for all betting premises.  Children and young persons are not permitted 
entry to a premise with a Betting Premises Licence.  They may, however, be 
permitted entry to tracks and special rules will apply.  The Licensing Authority 
recommends that an applicant for gaming machines in betting premises considers 
carefully the location of betting machines to ensure that they are not in sight of the 
entrance of the premises.

6.2 Betting machines - this Licensing Authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, take into account the size of the premises; the 
number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions; and the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by vulnerable people or by 

34



21

children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) when 
considering the number / nature / circumstances of betting machines an operator 
wants to offer.

7.  Tracks

7.1 There are currently no tracks operating in the district - however this Statement of 
Principles will be amended with appropriate regulation should such a facility require 
licensing within the district. 

8.   Travelling Fairs 

8.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D 
machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit are to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for 
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

8.2 This Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

8.3 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair applies on a calendar year basis and that it applies to the piece of land on 
which the fairs are held regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling 
fairs occupying the land.  This Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that 
the statutory limits are not exceeded.

9.   Provisional Statements

9.1 Developers may wish to apply to this Licensing Authority for a Provisional 
Statement before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
Premises Licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an Operating Licence 
in order to apply for a Provisional Statement.

9.2 Part 8, Section 204 of the Gambling Act 2005 provides for a person to make an 
application to the Licensing Authority for a Provisional Statement in respect of 
premises that he / she:

 expects to be constructed
 expects to be altered
 expects to acquire a right to occupy

9.3 The process for considering an application for a Provisional Statement is the same 
as that for a Premises Licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice 
of the application in the same way as applying for a Premises Licence.  
Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal.

9.4 In contrast to the Premises Licence application the applicant does not have to hold 
or have applied for an Operating Licence from the Gambling Commission (except 
in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises 
in respect of which their Provisional Application is made.

35



22

9.5 The holder of the Provisional Statement may then apply for a Premises Licence 
once the premises is constructed, altered or acquired.  This Licensing Authority will 
be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the Premises 
Licence application, and in terms of representations about Premises Licence 
applications that follow the grant of a Provisional Statement, no further 
representations from relevant Authorities or interested parties can be taken into 
account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the Provisional 
Statement stage

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances

9.6 In addition the Licensing Authority may refuse the Premises Licence (or grant it on 
terms different to those attached to the Provisional Statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the Provisional Statement 
stage

 which in the Licensing Authority’s opinion reflect a change in the Operator’s 
circumstances

 where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this Licensing Authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with 
the applicant before making a decision.

10.  Reviews  

10.1 Requests for a review of a Premises Licence can be made by Interested Parties or 
Responsible Authorities.  However, it is for this Licensing Authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the 
request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below:

 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
 reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives
 in accordance with this Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles.

10.2 The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by this 
Licensing Authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious or whether it 
will certainly not cause the Licensing Authority to wish to alter / revoke / suspend 
the Licence, or whether it is substantially the same as previous representation(s) or 
request(s) for review.

10.3 This Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a particular Premises Licence 
or a particular class of Premises Licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks 
appropriate.

10.4 Once a valid application for review has been received by this Licensing Authority 
representations can be made by Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties 
during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the application is received 
by this Licensing Authority who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of 
receipt.

36



23

10.5 This Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 
day period for making representations has passed.

10.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the Licensing Authority 
should take any action in relation to the Licence.  If action is justified the options 
open to this Licensing Authority are to:

 add, remove or amend a Licence condition imposed by the Licensing Authority
 exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening 

hours) or remove or amend such a condition
 suspend the Premises Licence for a period not exceeding three months
 revoke the licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this 
Licensing Authority must have regard to the principles set out in Section 153 of the 
Act as well as any relevant representation.

10.7 In particular, the Licensing Authority may also initiate a review of a Premises 
Licence on the grounds that a Premises Licence holder has not provided facilities 
for gambling at the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying for licences 
in a speculative manner without intending to use them.

10.8 Once the review has been completed this Licensing Authority must, as soon as 
possible, notify its decision to:

 the licence holder
 the applicant for review (if any)
 the Gambling Commission
 any person who made a representation
 the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable
 HM Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

11.  Appeals

11.1 There is a right of appeal both for applicants and those who have made relevant 
representations or applied for a review. This appeal must be lodged within a period 
of 21 days from the day on which the applicant was notified by this Licensing 
Authority of the decision and must be made to a Magistrates’ Court.

37



24

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice / Lotteries

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits 

1.1 Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 
Category D gaming machines it may apply to this Licensing Authority for a permit.  
It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (as per the Gambling 
Act 2005 Part 10, Section 238).

1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a Statement 
of Principles that it proposes to consider in determining the suitability of an 
applicant for a permit and, in preparing this statement, and / or considering 
applications it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall 
have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under 
Section 25.  

1.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities, paragraph 24.6 also 
states  “...An application for a permit can only be made by a person who occupies 
or plans to occupy the premises to be used as an unlicensed FEC and, if the 
applicant is an individual, he or she must be aged 18 or over.  Applications for a 
permit cannot be made if a premises licence is in effect for the same premises.

24.9 “....An application may be granted only if the licensing authority is satisfied 
that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC and if the chief officer of 
police has been consulted on the application.

Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act)

 that employees are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes”. 

It should be noted that a Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit.

1.4 Statement of Principles

This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm.  Harm 
in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider safeguarding 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits, however, they may include appropriate measures / 
training for staff as regards, vulnerable adults on the premises, suspected truant 
school children on the premises, measures training covering how staff would deal 
with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on / around the premises.  

38



25

2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits and notifications 

2.1 Notifications of 2 or less machines 

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption 
on the premises and have a bar at which alcohol is served, without a requirement 
that alcohol is served only with food, to automatically have 2 gaming machines of 
categories C and / or D.  The premises licence holder merely needs to notify this 
Licensing Authority.  This Licensing Authority can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
Licensing Objectives

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Part 12, 
Section 282 of the Act 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming
 an offence under the Gambling Act 2005 has been committed on the premises

2.2 Permits for 3 or more machines 

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines then the licence holder needs 
to apply for a permit and this Licensing Authority must consider that application 
based upon the licensing objectives, the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, Section 25 and “such matters as they think relevant”.   This 
Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy this Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult-only gaming 
machines.  Measures may include the adult-only machines being in sight of the bar 
or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18.  Notices and signage may also be helpful.  In ensuring the 
protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of 
information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

2.3 It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a Premises 
Licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most 
likely need to be applied for, and dealt with, as an Adult Gaming Centre Premises 
Licence.

2.4 It should be noted that this Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application 
with a smaller number of machines and / or a different category of machines than 
that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

2.5 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine, in particular the Gaming Machines in Alcohol Licensed Premises 
Code of Practice.  This code contains details of the conditions which apply to 
permits.

3. Prize Gaming 

3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may “prepare a Statement 
of Principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this 

39



26

schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority 
proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  

3.2 This Licensing Authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the 
applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and 
that the applicant should be able to demonstrate: 

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
regulations 

 that the gaming offered is within the law
 clear polices that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm

3.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit this Licensing Authority does 
not need to (but may) have regard to the Licensing Objectives but must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  

3.4 It should be noted that whilst there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with 
which the permit holder must comply, the Licensing Authority itself cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with
 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 

which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a monetary prize) or the prescribed value (if a non-monetary 
prize) 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling. 

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

4.1 Members’ clubs may apply for a Club Gaming permit or a Club Machine permit 
(Commercial Clubs cannot apply for a Club Gaming Permit).  The Club Gaming 
permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of 
categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set out in 
regulations.  A Club Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

4.2 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: “Members’ 
clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted ‘wholly or 
mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 
separate regulations.  The Secretary of State has made such regulations and these 
cover bridge and whist clubs.  A members’ club must be permanent in nature and 
established and conducted for the benefit of its members and not as a commercial 
enterprise.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British 
Legion and clubs with political affiliations.”

4.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities notes that 
"Licensing Authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 
club and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied

40



27

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years
(e) An objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.”

4.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act (Schedule 12 
paragraph 10) for premises which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities states, "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.  The grounds on which an 
application under the process may be refused are:

(a)   the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed by  
regulations under Section 266 of the Act

(b)  in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming

(c)   a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 
last ten years has been cancelled."

4.5 There are statutory conditions on Club Gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a Code of Practice about the location and operation of gaming 
machines.

5. Temporary Use Notices 

5.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 
Premises Licence but where a Gambling Operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might be suitable for 
a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would include 
hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.  The meaning of “premises” in 
Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, the definition of “a set of premises” will 
be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given.  In 
the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  In considering whether a 
place falls within the definition of a “set of premises” this Licensing Authority needs 
to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises.

5.2 This Licensing Authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant Operating Licence i.e. a Non-Remote 1968 or 2005 
Act Casino Operating Licence.

5.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 
authorised by Temporary Use Notices the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The 
Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that 
Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for 
equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, 
which in practice means poker tournaments.

5.4 This Licensing Authority has to ensure that the statutory limit of 21 days in a 
calendar year is not exceeded.  

41



28

5.5 There are a number of statutory limits applied to Temporary Use Notices. These 
can be found in the Gambling Act (Part 9).

5.6 This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as 
one set of premises as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.

6. Occasional Use Notices 

6.1 This Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these Notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
This Licensing Authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether 
the applicant is permitted to avail him / herself of the Notice.  

7. Lotteries

7.1 This Licensing Authority registers and deals with Small Society Lotteries.  
Promoting or facilitating a lottery falls within one of the following categories:

 Licensed Lotteries (requiring an Operating Licence from the Gambling 
Commission)

 Small Society Lotteries (registered with the Licensing Authority) Exempt 
Lotteries

7.2 Lotteries permitted to be conducted without a Licence from the Gambling 
Commission are:

 Small Society Lotteries (registered with the Licensing Authority)
 Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries
 Private Lotteries (Private Society Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ Lottery)
 Customer Lotteries

7.3. Societies may organise lotteries if they are licensed by the Gambling Commission, 
registered with this Licensing Authority or fall within the exempt category. This 
Licensing Authority recommends those seeking to run lotteries take their own legal 
advice on which type of lottery category they fall within.  However, guidance notes 
with regard to all lotteries, limits placed on small society lotteries and information 
setting out financial limits is available by contacting this Licensing Authority.

7.4 Applicants for lottery licences must apply to the Licensing Authority in the area 
where their principal office is located. Where the Licensing Authority believes that 
the Society’s principal office is situated in another area it will inform the Society as 
soon as possible and, where possible, will inform the other Licensing Authority.

7.5 This Licensing Authority will keep a Public Register of all applications and will 
provide information to the Gambling Commission on all lotteries registered by this 
Licensing Authority.  As soon as the entry on the Public Register is completed, this 
Licensing Authority will notify the applicant of registration.

7.6 This Licensing Authority will ask applicants to set out the purposes for which the 
Society is established and will ask the Society to declare that they represent a 
bona fide non-commercial society and have no relevant convictions.  This 

42



29

Licensing Authority may seek further information from the Society and in particular 
may require a copy of the Society’s constitution.

7.7 Where this Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a Society it will give 
the Society an opportunity to make representations and will inform the Society of 
the reasons why it is minded to refuse registration and supply evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion.

7.8 This Licensing Authority may revoke the registered status of a Society if it thinks 
that they would have had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an application for 
registration if it were being made at that time. However, no revocations will take 
place unless the Society has been given the opportunity to make representations. 
This Licensing Authority will inform the Society of the reasons why it is minded to 
revoke the registration and will provide an outline of the evidence on which it has 
reached that preliminary conclusion.

7.9 As regards to where Small Society Lottery tickets may be sold, the Licensing 
Authority applies the following guidance criteria to all Small Society Lotteries it 
registers:

 tickets should not be sold in a Street.  (‘Street’ includes any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court, alley or passage (including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping centres)).  

 tickets may be sold in a street from a kiosk, in a shop or door to door.

This approach is consistent with the Operating Licence conditions imposed by the 
Gambling Commission upon operators of large lotteries.

8. Review

8.1 This Statement of Principles will remain in existence for a period of three years and 
will be subject to review and further consultation before 1st January 2022.  
However, following consultation, the Licensing Authority may make revisions to it 
as deemed necessary. 

9. Glossary

9.1 A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 3

43



30

APPENDIX 1

Summary of Licensing Authority delegations permitted under the Gambling Act 
(This summary is for information purposes only and does not form part of the 
Statement of Principles proper.  The delegations may be amended at any time).
 
Matter to be dealt 
with

Council Alcohol, 
Entertainment & 
Late Night 
Refreshment 
Committee

Officers

Final approval of three 
year Licensing 
Statement of 
Principles

All Cases

Pass a resolution not 
to permit casinos

All Cases

Fee setting 
(when appropriate) X X (recommend to 

Council)
Application for 
Premises Licence 
(including applications 
for Re-instatement 
under S195*)

Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn (S154 
(4) (a)*) 

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Application to vary 
Premises Licence

Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn (S154 
(4)(b)*)

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn

Application for transfer 
of Premises Licence

Representation 
made by the 
Commission (S154 
(4) (c)*)

Where no 
representations 
received from the 
Commission

Application for a 
Provisional Statement

Representation 
made and not 
withdrawn
(S154 (4) (d)*)

No representation 
made or 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Revocation of a 
Premises Licence (for 
failure to pay annual 
fee under S193*)

All Cases

44



31

Matter to be dealt 
with

Council Sub-Committee of 
Licensing 
Committee

Officers

Review of a Premises 
Licence X

Application for Club 
Gaming/Club Machine 
Permits

Objection made 
and not withdrawn 
(Schedule 12 
Paragraph 28 (2)*)

No objection made 
or objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of Club 
Gaming / Club 
Machine Permits 
under Schedule 12 
Paragraph 21*

X

Consideration of 
Temporary Use 
Notices (including 
Notices modified 
under Section 223)

All cases where an 
objection notice 
has been received 
unless each 
person who would 
be entitled to make 
representations 
agrees that a 
hearing is 
unnecessary.

All cases where a 
counter notice may 
be required (S232 
(3)*)

All other cases

Decision to give a 
Counter Notice to a 
Temporary Use Notice

All Cases except 
where time limits 
for temporary 
events are 
exceeded pursuant 
to Section 218 (3) 
and Section 218 
(5)

All cases where 
time limits for 
temporary events 
are exceeded 
pursuant to Section 
218 (3) and Section 
218 (5)

Applications for other 
Permits, Registrations 
and Notifications

X

Cancellation of 
Licensed Premises 
Gaming Machine 
Permits (Schedule 13 
Paragraph 16*)

X

*Gambling Act 2005
‘X’ - Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

The Sub-Committee of the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment 
Licensing Committee, shall be comprised of, normally a minimum of 3 members.

45



32

APPENDIX 2

Parties consulted

Statutory Consultees

Chief Officer of Lincolnshire Police 
One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of person 
carrying on gambling businesses in the area
One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of persons 
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s functions under the Act.

Public Bodies

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board
Gambling Commission
Lincolnshire County Council (Social Services)
Lincolnshire County Council (Trading Standards)
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board
HM Customs & Excise

Lincolnshire Authorities

Lincoln City Council
North Kesteven District Council
South Holland District Council
West Lindsey District Council
East Lindsey District Council
Boston Borough Council
North East Lincolnshire Council

Community Consultees

GamCare
Addaction
Samaritans

Trade Associations involved in Gaming and Entertainment Industry

British Beer & Pub Association
British Institute of Innkeeping
The Bingo Association
Gamestec
Association of British Bookmakers Ltd
Claremont Automatics
Keeday Leisure
Gala Bingo
Bet Fred
Coral UK
Mark Jarvis Betting
Ladbrookes
All alcohol licensed premises and registered club premises
Amusement arcades permit holders in the district

Telephone: (01476) 40 60 80 or email: licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk

46

mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3

GLOSSARY OF TERMS UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005
Council/Licensing 
Authority:

Applications:

Notifications:

Act:

Regulations:

Premises:

Track
Premises 
Licence

Operator Licence

Personal 
Licence:

Family 
Entertainment 
Centre

Adult Gaming 
Centre

Gaming Machine

Gaming Machine

Money Prize 
Machine

Non- Money
Prize Machine

South Kesteven District Council

Applications for licences and permits as stated in the Statement of 
Principles

Notifications of temporary and occasional use notices

The Gambling Act 2005

Regulations made under the Act

Any place, including a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure

Section 53 of the Act defines a track as a horse racecourse, greyhound 
track or other premises on any part of which a race or other sporting 
event takes place or is intended to take place.

Issued by the Council to authorise premises to be used for the activities 
as defined by Section 150 of the Act

Issued by the Gambling Commission to organisations and individuals 
who are providing facilities for gambling as defined by Section 65 of the 
Act

Issued by the Gambling Commission to certain categories of people 
working in the gambling industry as defined by Section 127 of the Act

The Act creates two classes of Family Entertainment Centres:

Licensed: which provide category C and D gaming machines and 
require a premises licence

A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to 
gamble as defined by Section 235 of the Gambling Act. Gaming 
machines fall into categories depending on the maximum stake and 
prize available. 

The Gambling Commission’s web site contains up to date information 
about gaming machine categories, stakes and prizes

Unlicensed: which provide category D gaming machines in reliance on a 
Gaming Machine Permit.

Premises which provide category B, C and D gaming machines and 
require an operating licence and a premises licence.

A machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to 
gamble as defined by Section 235 of the Act

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a result 
of using the machine is a money prize as defined in regulation 3 (7) of 
the Categories of Gaming Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009

A machine in respect of which every prize which can be
won as a result of using the machine is a non-money prize

47

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-gambling-businesses/Compliance/Sector-specific-compliance/Arcades-and-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Gaming-machine-categories.aspx


34

Crane Grab
Machine

Coin Pusher
or Penny Fall
Machine

Other
Categories of
Gaming
Machines

Code of Practice:

Responsible

as defined in regulation 3(7) of the Categories of Gaming
Machine (Amendment) Regulations 2009. For non-money
prize machines in general, the maximum stake (charge for
use) must be no more than 30 pence, and the maximum
prize value must be no more than £8.

A crane grab machine is defined as a non-money prize
machine in respect of which two conditions are satisfied.
The first is that every prize which can be won as a result
of using the machine consists of an individual physical
object (such as a stuffed toy). The second is that whether or not a 
person using the machine wins a prize is determined by the person’s 
success or failure in manipulating a device forming part of the machine 
so as to separate and keep separate one or more physical objects from 
a group of such objects. The maximum stake may be anything up to and 
including £1, and the maximum prize value may be anything up to and 
including £50

These machines are commonly found in seaside arcades
and are defined in regulation 2(3) of the Categories of
Gaming Machine Regulations 2007 with the additional
requirement that the machine be neither a money-prize
nor a non-money prize machine. The maximum stake may be anything 
up to and including 20 pence, and the
maximum prize value may be anything up to and including £20 (no more 
than £10 may be a money prize).

A – No category A gaming machines are currently
permitted
B1 – Maximum Stake: £5, Maximum Prize: £10,000*

B2 – Maximum Stake: £100, Maximum Prize: £500
(multiples of £10)
B3 – Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £500
B3A – Maximum Stake: £2 Maximum Prize: £500
B4 – Maximum Stake: £2, Maximum Prize: £400
C – Maximum Stake: £1, Maximum Prize: £100
D – Money Prize (other than a coin pusher or penny falls
machine) Maximum Stake: 10p Maximum Prize: £5
D – Non-money prize (other than crane grab, coin pusher
or penny falls machine)) Maximum stake: 30p Maximum Prize: £8
D- Non-money prize (crane grab machine)
Maximum stake: £1 Maximum prize: £50
D – Combined money and non-money prize (other than
coin pusher or penny falls machine)
Maximum Stake: 10p maximum prize: £8 (of which no
more than £5 may be a money prize)
D – Combined money and non-money prize (coin pusher
or penny falls machine)
Maximum stake: 20p Maximum prize: £20 (of which no
more than £10 may be a money prize)

Means any relevant code of practice under section 24 of
the Gambling Act 2005

For the purposes of this Act, the following are responsible authorities in 
relation to gambling premises:

48



35

Authority:

Interested Party:

 The Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are wholly or 
mainly situated (South Kesteven District Council);

 The Gambling Commission;
 Lincolnshire Police;
 Trading Standards;
 HM Customs and Excise.

For the purposes of this Act, a person is an interested
party in relation to a premises licence if, in the opinion of
the Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to
which the application is made, the person:

a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely
to be affected by the authorised activities;
b) Has business interests that might be affected by
the authorised activities;
c) Represents persons who satisfy a) or b) above.

49



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

Gambling Statement of Principles

Lead officer:
 Anne-Marie Coulthard
Assessors:
Anne-Marie Coulthard

Service Area:
Environmental

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

12/06/19

51

Appendix 2



1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Licensing Authorities licence gambling premises and issue a range of      
permits to authorise other gambling facilities in their area. 

The Gambling Act 2005 requires Authorities on or before each successive 
period of three years, to prepare a Statement of Principles that they propose 
to apply in the exercise of their functions under the Act and to publish that 
Statement.  The last Statement was published in January 2017 and is now 
under review.

The Statement sets out the Licensing Authorities approach to regulation and 
aims to control operators of licensed premises within the local area.
The licensing objectives are set out in the Act and are: 
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/
strategy have a positive 
or negative impact on 
any of the equality 
groups? 

Please state which for 
each group

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative.
If you consider this policy etc is not 
relevant to a specific characteristic 
please explain why  

Age Yes – under 18s Positive - The statement sets out how 
the Licensing Authority will consider 
applications in accordance with 
licensing objectives. One is to protect 
children from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  Premise 
Licence applicants must consider a 
range of relevant factors in their risk 
assessments as part of their 
application e.g. locations near schools

52



Disability Yes – in respect of 
mental health and 
learning disability 

See comment under “other Groups”

Race Not applicable

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Not applicable

Religion or 
Belief  

Not applicable

Sex

  

Not applicable

Sexual 
Orientation

Not applicable

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Not applicable

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

Not applicable

Carers Not applicable

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation)

Vulnerable persons – for 
regulatory purposes 
Gambling Commission 
guidance states “assume 
that this group includes 
people who gamble more 
than they want to; people 
who gamble beyond their 
means; and people who 
may not be able to make 
informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling 
due to mental health 
needs, learning disability, 
or substance misuse 

Positive - ensuring that venues and staff 
of those venues are aware of vulnerable 
groups, are alert to excessive gambling 
and provide appropriate information for 
organisations that provide help such as 
GamCare.  Where venues are operating 
outside of conditions or without 
appropriate permits, a range of 
enforcement provisions are available in 
the Act.

53



relating to alcohol or 
drugs.”  

General 
comments

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The current Statement (2017-2020) was subject to consultation. A range of 
licences/permits have been issued under the current statement and no 
significant risks have been identified.  However, in line with current 
guidance, the information to be provided as a minimum for Local Area 
Assessments (page 10 of the statement) has been increased in the latest 
Statement to provide for increased considerations relating to children and 
vulnerable people.  

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

The revised Statement will be subject to consultation statutory consultees, 
relevant bodies and the public. Full list of consultees is at Appendix 2 of 
the Statement.

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality. 

54



If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Anne-Marie Coulthard
(Name and title) Head of Environmental

Date completed: 12/06/19 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

Date signed off:    12/06/19

55



56



Cabinet
12 November 2019

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations

        

Tree Guidelines
This report provides a short summary overview of the Council’s approach to trees within South 
Kesteven and introduces the ‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles’. 

Report Author

Lynne Lord, Grounds Maintenance Coordinator 

01476 406226

l.lord@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Non-Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director – Commercial & 
Operations    29 October 2019

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial & 
Operations    31 October 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations    31 October 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Endorse the draft ‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: 
Principles’ (appendix one).

57

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, requested 

earlier this year that officers undertake some work to enhance, and put on a more formal 
footing, the approach the Council takes to trees and tree management.

1.2 South Kesteven District Council has approximately 6,000 trees or tree groups of varying 
age and maturity in their open spaces.  The Council is responsible for the maintenance 
and safe management of these trees.

1.3 The Council engages North Kesteven District Council’s highly trained arboriculturalists to 
carry out an independent survey of these trees on a three year rota, with 2,000 trees 
inspected each year. These inspections identify any proposed works using the following 
three categories:

o Desirable works: Desirable works are those deemed not essential at the time of the 
survey and may include work to de-stake, remove basal growth or crown raise.

o Essential maintenance: These are works that are considered essential and 
typically are to mitigate a health and safety risk or work to maintain the healthy 
viability of the tree. The aim is to carry out work within six months of the survey.

o Urgent works: These are works that pose an immediate health and safety hazard to 
people and/or property. There are very few ‘urgent works’.

1.4 The Council currently only carries out ‘essential maintenance’ and ‘urgent works’ as a 
matter of routine.  However, ‘desirable works’ are considered on occasion on a case by 
case basis, dependent on budget availability.

1.5 There has been growing interest locally and nationally in the important role that trees play 
to enhance the environment, fight against climate change by removing excess carbon 
dioxide from the air, help to prevent flooding, boost personal wellbeing and support mental 
health.  As part of the work requested earlier in the year by Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, work 
has been undertaken to consider appropriate ways to recognise the importance of trees.

1.6 Cllr Ashley Baxter presented a motion to Council on the 27 June 2019 which sought that 
“Council resolves (a.) to adopt the Woodland Trust’s Charter for Trees and the ten 
principles within it [and] (b.) to develop a Tree Strategy for South Kesteven”. This motion 
was not carried but a number of Members confirmed that it would be useful for the 
Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee to consider the issue further

1.7 More recently, Cllr Dr Peter Moseley presented a ‘Climate Emergency’ report to Cabinet 
on the 10 September 2019.  Cabinet approved the recommendations and the report was 
considered and approved, with amendments, by Council on the 26 September 2019.  
Approval of the recommendation in this report to more formally endorse a positive stance 
towards trees, supports and complements the Council’s commitments to move towards 
net-zero carbon.

1.8 With this in mind, officers have been liaising with the Woodland Trust to develop a ‘local 
government’ version of the Woodland Trust’s ‘Tree Charter’.  The intention behind this is 
to enable Council to endorse the ten key principles in the Tree Charter whilst recognising 
the Council’s community leadership role.  It also explicitly acknowledges the requirement 
for councils to balance their positive commitment to trees with wider requirements and 
legal obligations, including: health and safety, value for money, access and accessibility, 

58



service delivery, day to day operations, grounds maintenance, public amenity and 
development and growth.

1.9 Although the Woodland Trust are talking to other councils, only a few local authorities 
have endorsed the Woodland Trust’s Tree Charter since it was created in 2017.  The 
Woodland Trust recognise the need to create a local government version of the Tree 
Charter and they have welcomed the engagement and support to provide the local 
government context.  The Woodland Trust hope to be able to use the final version of the 
‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles’ with other councils.  
The Woodland Trust are also eager to further strengthen the working relationship with 
South Kesteven District Council and to support the Council to develop a Tree Strategy and 
wider action plan, as required.

1.10 Appendix one includes the current proposed draft of the ‘Local Government Charter for 
Trees, Woods & People: Principles’ which has been discussed with the Woodland Trust.  
The Woodland Trust are comfortable with the draft contained within appendix one in 
principle, subject to any comments from Cabinet and final sign-off within the Woodland 
Trust.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview & Scrutiny
2.1 At their meeting on the 17 September 2019, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered and agreed to recommend to Cabinet that Council endorses the 
‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles’.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council could decide not to formalise its approach to trees and tree management in 

the way outlined in this report but this may lose some of the positive momentum generated 
through working with the Woodland Trust.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 Cabinet endorse the ‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles’ 

(appendix one).

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 To enhance, clarify and formalise the Council’s operational tree management.  In addition, 

the Council making, more formally, a positive commitment to trees complements any 
efforts to respond to climate change.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 If Cabinet endorse the ‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles’, 

the final version will be signed-off in conjunction with the Woodland Trust.  A meeting with 
the Woodland Trust, Cllr Dr Peter Moseley and Council officers was held in October.  This 
meeting began to explore next steps and to consider options around how the Woodland 

59



Trust can support the Council to develop a Tree Strategy and wider action plan.  A follow-
up meeting is currently being scheduled.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The funding requirements for tree management is considered and incorporated into 

budgets as part of the annual budget setting work.  Should there be a need to increase 
annual funding as a result of the emerging Tree Strategy, then a proposal will need to be 
brought forward for members to consider the financial implications at that time.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 There are no specific legal implications as a result of this report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 There are no specific equality or safeguarding implications as a result of this report.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No specific additional risks have been identified at this time.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no specific community safety implications as a result of this report.

12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix one: Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People – Principles 

(DRAFT)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

17 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  12 November 2019

60



Charter for Trees, Woods & People

(The Tree Charter)
Natural treasures, in roots, wood and leaves, for beauty, for use, the air that we breathe. Imagine: a 

wood starts with one small seed. We’re stronger together – people and trees.
Harriet Fraser, 2017

The Tree Charter was shaped by more than 60,000 stories from people across the UK explaining how trees and 
woods enhance their lives. It was led by the Woodland Trust who collaborated with a steering group of more than 
70 cross-sector organisations to define and launch it in 2017. Further information and guidance on how to support 
the principles can be found at treecharter.uk

South Kesteven District Council seek to promote and encourage everyone to play their part in supporting the 
ten principles of the Tree Charter:

1. Sustain landscapes rich in wildlife 

2. Plant for the Future 

3. Celebrate the power of trees to inspire 

4. Grow forests of opportunity and innovation 

5. Protect irreplaceable trees and woods 

6. Plan greener local landscapes 

7. Recover health, hope and wellbeing with the help of trees 

8. Make trees accessible to all 

9. Combat the threats to our habitats 

10. Strengthen our landscapes with trees 

South Kesteven District Council recognises and values the contribution made by trees and woods as part of the 
wider natural environment.  This will be taken in to account in the operation of the Council and in delivering all 
related statutory and regulatory requirements.  In supporting this Tree Charter, South Kesteven will do this in a 
way which balances with wider requirements, including any legal obligations, to include: health and safety, value 
for money, access and accessibility, service delivery, day to day operations, grounds maintenance, public amenity 
and development and growth.

61

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
12 November 2019

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees
This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by Council or the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 10 September 2019, as set out in 
Appendix 1.

Report Author

Naomi Page, Democratic Officer

01476 406539

naomi.page@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 24 October 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 30 October 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 4 November 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the 
matters referred to in Appendix 1.

63

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
Council

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 
10 September 2019.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
1.2 The Council operates Executive decision-making arrangements as set out in the Local 

Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least one scrutiny committee 
in place. The Council currently has four overview and scrutiny committees. The overview 
and scrutiny committees meet regularly and may hold additional meetings as necessary to 
discuss items within their remit.

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the Council’s 
overview and scrutiny committees since the last meeting of the Cabinet are contained in 
Appendix 1.

1.4 Where an overview and scrutiny committee meets after the publication of the Cabinet 
agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be provided in an 
addendum to the Cabinet meeting if the matter relates to an item on the Cabinet’s agenda, 
or a synopsis provided with the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for the meetings of the Cabinet. No other 

options were considered.

3 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
3.1 Where an item has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny, the 

recommendations of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee will either be captured 
within the Cabinet report, or, where the time does not permit, as part of a verbal update 
made during the Cabinet meeting or as a written note circulated at the meeting.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters that have been raised by 

other Members at meetings of the Council and committees that operate within the 
Executive function of the Council.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 There are no equality or safeguarding implications arising from this report.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were identified in 

its production.

64



8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 There are no background papers to this report.

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Matters referred from Council (Part A) and overview and scrutiny committees 

(Part B)

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  12 November 2019

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL AND 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

PART A: MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL

There are no matters referred by the Council to the Cabinet on this occasion.

PART B: MATTERS REFERRED FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES

CULTURE AND VISITOR ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 3 September 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Judy Stevens

Cultural Strategy – consultation feedback

Considerations

 An update from the Head of Arts on progress with the Cultural Strategy following 
consultation through the ‘Big Conversation’

 Strategy themes: arts, heritage, sports and sciences
 A web-based survey form
 Conversation with groups participating in the Bourne CiCLE festival
 Information on activities that were well attended and barriers preventing access 

and participation
 Areas considered by the committee: featuring community engagement in the 

strategy, the standard and availability of facilities and transport and event costs
 Further work would be undertaken to dig into the survey responses
 The emerging Arts Council Strategy for the next ten years

Savoy Cinema Opening – Community Involvement and media coverage

Considerations

 Background to the development of the cinema
 The number of visits to date and the projected number of visits in the first year
 The number of social media hits
 The clash of the cinema’s opening with a ‘Music in Quiet Places’ event
 Marketing work that was being undertaken by InvestSK in respect of the A3 units 

that formed part of the complex

67

Appendix 1



Outcomes

 A tour of the Grantham cinema complex should be arranged for those members 
who wish to view it

Read dating

Considerations

 Read dating provided an opportunity to develop the work of the Deepings Literary 
Festival

 The possibility of extending the programme to Bourne and Stamford libraries
 The “Pint of Poetry” sessions taking place at Stamford Arts Centre

FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE SERVICES OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 05 September 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Graham Jeal

Finance Update Report – Quarter 1 2019/20

Considerations

 The Revenue budget stood at £19.796m and a forecast overspend of £461k at 
the end of quarter 1

 A significant variance to the Revenue Budget General Fund was the forecast 
underachievement of the workforce efficiency target (vacancy factor)

 2019/20 budget pressures included car park income, trader levels at markets, 
operational costs relating to St Martin’s Park and challenges securing budgeted 
savings for transformation and procurement

 The budget variance relating to dwelling rents; an increase in right to buys over 
the 2018/19 period had reduced the total number of properties from which rent 
could be collected

 It was assumed that the current four-year legacy payment model would continue 
regarding the New Homes Bonus

 Unforeseen costs during the Public Realm construction works, including the need 
for a separate boiler system for the Civic Suite

Outcomes

 Officers to provide a breakdown of the usage of market stalls across towns in 
the district

 Members to receive figures relating to car park income in Grantham
 The final account for the Bourne CiCLE festival to be confirmed at the following 

Committee meeting

68



Link to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitori
ng%20Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf 

Quarter 1 Performance

Considerations

 Of the twenty-one corporate performance indicators, three were at amber status
 The percentage of rent collected in quarter 1 was below target; this was attributed 

to an increase in arrears resulting from the further roll out of Universal Credit 
across the district and an increase in unrecoverable debts relating to deceased 
tenants and evictions

 The number of apprenticeships hosted within the Council was below target. 
However, further apprenticeship recruitment opportunities were in the pipeline

 The percentage of waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting remained 
within the amber threshold for quarter 1. This was part of a countywide issue 
currently being addressed by Lincolnshire County Council

 The percentage of streets meeting the clean streets standard was performing 
highly

 The presentation of the Strategic Director, Transformation and Change, which 
provided Members with examples of interactive dashboards created using the 
new Performance Reporting Framework software (using Microsoft Power BI)

 The new Framework would be rolled out incrementally, with information to be 
shared in the public domain initially as static views.

 The current priority in relation to the Framework would be collating data sets for 
the individual dashboards in order for them to provide relevant meaning for each 
target audience 

Outcomes

 A workshop to be provided for any interested Councillors in relation to the new 
Performance Framework

Recommendations

 The Committee recommended that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee consider the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling 
and composting as part of its work programme

Link to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23808/Performance%20Q
uarter%201.pdf  

69

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23808/Performance%20Quarter%201.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23808/Performance%20Quarter%201.pdf


 Appendix 1- Performance Data Quarter 1 2019/20: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23809/Appendix%201%20
Performance%20Data%20Quarter%201%20201920.pdf 

Local Plan – Proposed Main Modifications

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Planning, outlining the background behind 
the development of the Local Plan to date

 The necessity for the Main Modifications recommended by the Inspector to be 
accepted in order for the Plan to be assessed as sound and thereby adopted by 
the Council

 Concerns of the Committee relating to the Main Modifications recommending a 
reduction of the affordable housing requirement in the urban area of Grantham 
and an increase in the indicative number of units in a number of areas 

 Without a Local Plan, national government policy would apply, including 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. This would essentially prevent 
the Council from shaping the way the District was developed 

Outcomes

 Members comments regarding the Main Modifications to the Local Plan were 
forward to the meeting of Cabinet on 10 September 2019

Link to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Planning: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23815/Local%20Plan%20
main%20modifications%20OSC%20report.pdf 

 Appendix 1 Schedule of Main Modifications: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23816/Appendix%201%2
0Schedule%20of%20Main%20Modifications.pdf 

 Appendix 2 Schedule of Policy Map Modifications: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23817/Appendix%202%2
0Schedule%20of%20Policy%20Map%20Modifications.pdf 

 Appendix 3 Sustainability Appraisal Addendum: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23818/Appendix%203%2
0Sustainbility%20Appraisal%20Addendum.pdf 

 Appendix 4 Local Development Scheme 2019-2022: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23819/Appendix%204%2
0Local%20Development%20Scheme%202019-2022.pdf 

Deepings Special Expense Area

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Finance regarding the review of the 
Deepings Special Expense Area

70

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23809/Appendix%201%20Performance%20Data%20Quarter%201%20201920.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23809/Appendix%201%20Performance%20Data%20Quarter%201%20201920.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23815/Local%20Plan%20main%20modifications%20OSC%20report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23815/Local%20Plan%20main%20modifications%20OSC%20report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23816/Appendix%201%20Schedule%20of%20Main%20Modifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23816/Appendix%201%20Schedule%20of%20Main%20Modifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23817/Appendix%202%20Schedule%20of%20Policy%20Map%20Modifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23817/Appendix%202%20Schedule%20of%20Policy%20Map%20Modifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23818/Appendix%203%20Sustainbility%20Appraisal%20Addendum.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23818/Appendix%203%20Sustainbility%20Appraisal%20Addendum.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23819/Appendix%204%20Local%20Development%20Scheme%202019-2022.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23819/Appendix%204%20Local%20Development%20Scheme%202019-2022.pdf


 Any recommendations made would be considered as part of the 2020/21 
budget proposals

 The Special Expense Area (SEA) levy was charged to residents of Market 
Deeping and Deeping St James

 The only cost currently included in the SEA was the grounds maintenance for 
the Linchfield Road playing field 

 The Council would need to decide whether to keep charging the local residents 
through the SEA levy or request that the costs be wholly met by the direct users 
of the field

 The review of the Deepings SEA charge called for broader consideration of the 
principle of using SEAs across all other areas in the district currently utilizing 
this levy

 The potential implications of asking stakeholders to meet costs

Outcomes

 The Cabinet Member for Finance to consult with the Deepings Parish 
Councillors regarding the Special Expense Area and report back his findings to 
the Committee

 Information detailing the facilities covered by Special Expense Areas in all 
areas of the district currently using this levy

Link to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23806/Deepings%20SEA.
pdf 

RURAL AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 12 September 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Ray Wooten

Update on Condensate Pipes

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Housing, giving an overview of the issue 
which had initially arisen in early 2018, when a number of gas boilers had failed 
due to condensate pipes freezing

 No additional costs had been incurred as a result of the incident, as the Council’s 
contract with Liberty Gas included dealing with frozen condensates. There had, 
however, been implications for the tenants during the period the boilers were 
inoperative

 A technical advisor from the manufacturer had confirmed that although the 
installations had met design requirements, excessively low temperatures 
experienced at the time had caused the pipes to freeze. 

71

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23806/Deepings%20SEA.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23806/Deepings%20SEA.pdf


 Inspections of all 215 properties had been undertaken and a programme of work 
was currently underway to modify the installations to safeguard against similar 
issues recurring. Vulnerable tenants were being prioritised in the programme of 
work 

Outcomes

 A further update to be given to Members in early 2020

Links to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23861/Condensate%20Pip
e%20Remedials.pdf 

Modernising Housing Services - Review and Restructure

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Housing
 The services provided by the Housing Services department had remained largely 

unchanged for a period of time and practices had therefore become outdated in 
some areas

 The Council’s Corporate Strategy Priorities, calling for the authority to find better 
ways of delivering services

 The process of reviewing key strategic and operational issues, which began in 
January 2019

 The aims of the Housing Services review and restructure, as stated in the report
 The introduction of a team of Tenancy Support Officers to work alongside a grant-

funded fulltime worker
 Service standards supported by work plans had been introduced for Housing 

Options, Tenancy Services and Policy and Strategy 
 The introduction of more Homelessness Prevention Assistants and Housing 

Assistants
 The development of new KPIs to bring clear focus and shared goals to the team
 The production of a new Tenancy Agreement, Tenancy Engagement Framework 

and Tenancy Strategy
 The introduction of lean processes to reduce the time taken to re-let void 

properties

Outcomes

 A report focusing on void management to be presented to the Committee at the 
next meeting

Links to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23862/Housing%20Servic
es%20Review%20v2%2029.6.19.pdf 

72

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23861/Condensate%20Pipe%20Remedials.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23861/Condensate%20Pipe%20Remedials.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23862/Housing%20Services%20Review%20v2%2029.6.19.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23862/Housing%20Services%20Review%20v2%2029.6.19.pdf


Equalities Annual Position Statement 2019

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
 The Equality Act 2010, which imposed a duty on the Council to give due regard 

to the three aims of the general Equality Duty when carrying out its public 
functions

 The further requirement for the Council to publish information demonstrating its 
compliance with the Equality Duty at least annually 

 The Council must also set and publish equality objectives at least every four 
years

 The published information must demonstrate that the Council has consciously 
considered the three aims of the Equality Duty and must include information 
relating to employees who share protected characteristics, as well as people who 
are affected by the Council’s policies and practices who share protected 
characteristics

Outcomes

 A link to the approved Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2019 is 
to be circulated to all members

 The assisted gardening scheme should be brought before committee for 
consideration (suggested March 2020)

Recommendation:

 The Committee noted the contents of the Equality and Diversity Annual Position 
Statement prior to its approval for publication

Links to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23859/E%20D%20Annual
%20Position%20Statement%20Report.pdf 

 Annual Position Statement 2019: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23860/Annual%20Position
%20Statement%202019.pdf 

73

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23859/E%20D%20Annual%20Position%20Statement%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23859/E%20D%20Annual%20Position%20Statement%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23860/Annual%20Position%20Statement%202019.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23860/Annual%20Position%20Statement%202019.pdf


ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of meeting: 17 September 2019
Chairman of the Committee: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew

Climate Change Informal Workshop Update

Considerations

 The presentation of the Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations outlining 
the findings of the climate change workshop held on 30 July 2019

 Cabinet’s recommendations to Council following its meeting on 10 September 
2019, including the alteration of point ‘d’ to include the wording ‘up to £50,000’ 
and ‘with the agreement of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee’. 

 Key messages from the workshop, including the need to have clear targets, the 
importance of Senior Member and Officer ownership and having short-term and 
long-term goals 

 Further work would need to be carried out to develop a fully representative view 
of the Council’s current baseline utilities usage

 The draft Terms of Reference for the ‘Climate Change Action’ task and finish 
group

 The purpose of the task and finish group and its role in supporting the Council’s 
ambition to reduce its carbon footprint by 2030 and become net-zero carbon by 
2050

 The current central government target was set at net-zero emissions by 2050
 Membership of the task and finish group would be comprised of elected Members 

and officers

Recommendations

 A further climate change workshop to be held on 28 October 2019
 The request be reiterated to add ‘climate change’ to the list of potential themes 

for the Gravity Fields Festival
 Recommend to Cabinet that SKDC seeks to reduce single use plastic at its 

organized events from 2020
 That the Council allocate up to £50,000 to enable external advice and the 

recruitment of a Climate Change Officer
 That the Council contact Lincolnshire County Council to see what advice or 

capacity it may be able to provide in moving towards its climate change targets
 That an external appointee for an environmental background be invited to 

become a member of the Interim Chief Executive’s Climate Change Action task 
and finish group

Link to relevant papers

 Climate change informal workshop presentation: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23911/Workshop%20pres
entation.pdf 

74

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23911/Workshop%20presentation.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23911/Workshop%20presentation.pdf


Gambling Statement of Principles

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations and the draft 
Gambling Statement of Principles

 The Gambling Act 2005, which requires that the Council publish a Statement of 
Principles every three years 

 The current Statement was due for renewal by January 2020
 The public consultation which had been undertaken, with two responses having 

been received
 No changes were deemed necessary following the responses
 Only minor amendments had been made to the Statement

Recommendation

 Recommendation to Cabinet that the revised South Kesteven District Council 
Gambling Statement of Principles is suitable to be presented to Council for 
adoption

Link to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23904/ENV%20727%20G
ambling%20Statement.pdf 

 Appendix 1: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23905/Appendix%201.pdf 

 Appendix 2: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23906/Appendix%202.pdf 

 Appendix 3: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23907/Appendix%203.pdf 

 Appendix 4: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23908/Appendix%204.pdf 

Tree Guidelines

Considerations

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, and the 
corresponding three documents which had been produced to create a coherent 
model to guide how the Council approached the issue of trees and tree 
guidelines

 ‘South Kesteven District Council Member Tree Notification Protocol’- a 
document produced to guide the procedure by which Members would be 
notified of major trees works occurring within their Wards

 Major tree works would only be undertaken after a professional report for each 
case had been received, with the decision having been made in the interest of 
public safety

 ‘Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods and People: Principles’- this 
document had been developed with support from the Woodland Trust to allow 

75

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23904/ENV%20727%20Gambling%20Statement.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23904/ENV%20727%20Gambling%20Statement.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23905/Appendix%201.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23906/Appendix%202.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23907/Appendix%203.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23908/Appendix%204.pdf


the Council to display a positive commitment towards trees whilst recognising 
its wider obligations as a public sector organisation

 ‘Tree Guidelines for the Management of Trees within South Kesteven District’- a 
document produced to complement work on climate change 

 The national challenge of increasing tree cover in order to support climate 
objectives

 The Council’s current practice of replanting when possible following tree felling, 
and the potential for this to be developed further  

Outcomes

 Some small amendments to the ‘Member Tree Notification Protocol’ document 
to be made by Officers, making a clear distinction between trees falling under 
the responsibility of the Council and those outside of Council owned areas

 An Officer from Planning to be invited to a future Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to provide further information regarding Tree Protection 
Orders

 Information to be provided indicating the typical costs incurred by purchasing 
and planting trees, alongside or included within the immediate climate change 
budgetary requirements presented by the ‘Climate Change Action’ task and 
finish group

Recommendations

 Recommendation to Cabinet to propose that Council endorses the draft ‘Local 
Government Charter for Trees, Woods and People: Principles’

 That the Council endorses the ‘Tree Guidelines for the Management of Trees 
within South Kesteven District’, with the provision that the document be an on-
going development to be reviewed in one year

Links to relevant papers

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-
%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf 

 South Kesteven District Council Member Tree Notification Protocol (Appendix 
1): http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23928/2019-9-17%20-
%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-
%20App%201%20Tree%20Notifications.pdf 

 Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods and People: Principles (Appendix 
2): http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23929/2019-9-17%20-
%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-
%20App%202%20Tree%20Charter.pdf 

 Tree Guidelines for the Management of Trees within South Kesteven District 
(Appendix 3): http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23930/2019-
9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-
%20App%203%20Tree%20Guidelines.pdf 

76

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23924/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23928/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%201%20Tree%20Notifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23928/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%201%20Tree%20Notifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23928/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%201%20Tree%20Notifications.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23929/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%202%20Tree%20Charter.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23929/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%202%20Tree%20Charter.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23929/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%202%20Tree%20Charter.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23930/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%203%20Tree%20Guidelines.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23930/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%203%20Tree%20Guidelines.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23930/2019-9-17%20-%20Env%20OSC%20-%20Tree%20Guidelines%20-%20App%203%20Tree%20Guidelines.pdf


Food Waste Trial Update

Considerations

 The presentation from the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, 
providing an update on the results from the food waste trial consultation

 Responses to the consultation had been positive
 A high percentage of respondents reported that they put their caddy out every 

week
 The high financial implications of providing a food waste collection service
 The environmental benefits of providing such a scheme
 The trial of a new collection method being undertaken, with the aim of 

increasing the efficiency of the service
 The high demand from residents to roll the scheme out further across the 

district, subject to funding being secured from Lincolnshire County Council via 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership

Outcomes

 Members to receive further information in the new year detailing the costs 
involved in the collection and disposal of food waste

Links to relevant papers

 Presentation from the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23916/Food%20Waste%2
0Trial%20presentation.pdf 

77

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23916/Food%20Waste%20Trial%20presentation.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23916/Food%20Waste%20Trial%20presentation.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
12 November 2019

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

        

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 10 September 2019.

Report Author

Naomi Page, Democratic Officer

01476 406539

naomi.page@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 24 October 2019

Approved by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 30 October 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 4 November 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions taken by individual Cabinet 
Members in the period since the last Cabinet meeting was held on 10 September 
2019.

79

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Under the Strong Leader model of governance, the Leader can allocate decision-making 

power to individual Cabinet Members. While decisions of the Cabinet will be made during 
Cabinet meetings, individual Cabinet Members may make decisions at any time in 
accordance with the relevant Regulations.

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet members since the Cabinet last met are 
attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the decision was based, 
and the decision notice are attached.

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 10 September 2019, the following decisions have been made:

 Purchase of land and building in Grantham
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing on 22 September 2019
Date decision effective: 30 September 2019 
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 1 (the appendices to this report are 
exempt)

 Regeneration of a building in Stamford town centre 
Non-key decision taken by the Deputy Leader of the Council on 23 September 2019
Date decision effective: 1 October 2019 
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 2 (appendix 3 to this report is 
exempt)

 Purchasing ICT hardware in order to deliver a fully agile workforce 
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations on 28 
October 2019
Date decision effective: 6 November 2019 (subject to call-in)
Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 3

1.4 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 
of the Cabinet.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The report that is presented to the decision-maker includes information on consultation 

and feedback received in respect of the matters to which the decisions listed in this report 
relate.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No other options 

were considered.

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The financial implications are set out within each decision.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

5 Legal and Governance Implications 
5.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the Leader are set 

out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and Cabinet model for carrying out 

80



executive functions was adopted by the Council in accordance with the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail Monitoring Officer

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
6.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been taken. Each individual report 

on which a decision is based will consider any equality or safeguarding implications.

7 Risk and Mitigation
7.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified.

8 Community Safety Implications 
8.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

9 Background Papers
9.1 None; relevant background papers are referred to in the report for each decision. 

10 Appendices
10.1 Appendix 1: Purchase of land and building in Grantham

10.2 Appendix 2: Regeneration of a building in Stamford Town Centre

10.3 Appendix 3: Purchasing ICT hardware in order to deliver a fully agile workforce

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 September 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

81



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing

REPORT AUTHOR: Harry Rai

REPORT NO. RIM0423

DATE: 9th September 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Purchase of  land and building in Grantham

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Housing
CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

The appendices to this report are exempt from publication by 
virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 because it contains financial information 
relating to a transaction. 

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek approval for the purchase of property and associated land (the Site) in, 
Grantham.

The purchase of the Site will enable the Council to explore the residential 
development potential of the area.

Details of the proposed acquisition is attached as Appendices to this report.

83

Appendix 1



(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

That the Cabinet Member for Housing approves the purchase of the Site as 
detailed in Appendix B for £180,000 for the freehold acquisition.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

The area in which the Site is situated is in close proximity of other residential 
properties owned by this Council. The acquisition of the Site will enable the 
Council to convert the building into four 1-bedroom self-contained units, 
providing much needed temporary accommodation, including level access 
units as detailed in Appendix A.

It is proposed that the Site will be purchased with funds from the £5.0m HRA 
Capital budget for Property Development for 2019-20.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The proposal to acquire this Site will provide an opportunity to provide social 
and affordable housing units that will provide an income stream to the HRA 30 
year business plan. The initial financial assessment provides a financial return 
of circa 5%.   The financing of the acquisition and development will be financed 
from the approved housing development capital funding that was approved by 
Council on 1 March 2019.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The District Council has the authority to acquire land/property by agreement for 
its use by virtue of s.120 of the Local Government Act 1972. The land/property 
acquired can be used for any purpose required to exercise the functions of the 
District Council or to benefit, improve or develop the area of the district, whether 
or not the land is immediately required for the purpose intended.  In addition, 
s.17 of the Housing Act 1985 permits the acquisition of land for housing 
purposes.

5.2 The details of the Site in question are set out in exempt appendices attached to 
this report to preserve the Council’s commercial position.  Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 applies to exempt the 
information contained in the exempt appendices.  Having regard to the public 
interest test, it is considered that on balance it is necessary to protect the 
Council’s and the vendor’s respective commercial positions by applying this 
exemption.  If that was not the case, both parties’ positions could be 
compromised and/or prejudiced. 

84



(6) OFFICER CONTACT

Gemma Harte
Development Manager
Tel: 01476 40 6259
E-mail: g.harte@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on Monday 23rd September date effective will be 
Wednesday 2nd October subject to the decision not being called-in.

85



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted to purchase the Site as detailed in exempt 
Appendix B to report RIM0423 in the sum of £180,000 for the 
freehold acquisition.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to purchase land and building in Grantham.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The District Council has the authority to acquire land/property by agreement 
for its use by virtue of s.120 of the Local Government Act 1972. The 
land/property acquired can be used for any purpose required to exercise 
the functions of the District Council or to benefit, improve or develop the area 
of the district, whether or not the land is immediately required for the purpose 
intended.  In addition, s.17 of the Housing Act 1985 permits the acquisition of 
land for housing purposes.

The proposal to acquire this Site will provide an opportunity to provide social 
and affordable housing units that will provide an income stream to the HRA 
30 year business plan. The initial financial assessment provides a financial 
return of circa 5%.   The financing of the acquisition and development will be 
financed from the approved housing development capital funding that was 
approved by Council on 1 March 2019.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The area in which the Site is situated is in close proximity of other residential 
properties owned by this Council. The acquisition of the Site will enable the 
Council to convert the building into four 1-bedroom self-contained units, 
providing much needed temporary accommodation, including level access 
units as detailed in Appendix A.

It is proposed that the Site will be purchased with funds from the £5.0m HRA 
Capital budget for Property Development for 2019-20.

93



Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Barry Dobson
Cabinet Member for Housing

Date of Decision: 23 September 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 24 September 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

2 October 2019 

94



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for 
Property

REPORT AUTHOR:                        Chris Pike – Asset Manager

REPORT NO.                                 PD0129

DATE:                                             31st July 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Regeneration of Building in Stamford Town Centre

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Regeneration and conversion of existing council stock
CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

Appendix 3 is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it 
contains financial information.

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS: None

95

Appendix 2



(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek approval for the regeneration of a Council owned asset in Stamford 
Town Centre.

Details of the proposed acquisition is attached Appendix to this report.

 Appendix 1 – Site Plan
 Appendix 2 – Architect Drawings

 Appendix 3 is exempt from publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because 
it contains financial information relating to a transaction.

 (2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

That the Cabinet Member for Property approves the conversion and 
regeneration of the property as detailed in exempt Appendix 3, subject to the 
grant of planning permission.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

The property, which is proposed for conversion will enable the Council to bring 
it back into use.  It is currently a vacant and dilapidated building and lies within 
an important part of Stamford’s town centre.  The conversion could deliver office 
space to the market and to improve the street scene.

It is proposed that the conversion of the building will be funded from the 
Council’s investment funding that was approved for 2019/20.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

This investment and regeneration project can access funding from the £10Million 
budget agreed by Council for that purpose.  The property currently has an annual 
cost to revenue of £1,300 per annum; development of the site is anticipated to 
create rental income, providing the Council with an additional source of revenue 
income.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

Any decisions relating to the proposed works will be subject the determination
of planning permission required.

The information provided in the Appendix 3 is exempt from publication in 
accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended) because it contains financial information relevant to the 
proposed conversion.

96



 (6) OFFICER CONTACT

Chris Pike
Asset Manager
Tel: 07811845679
c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:

If the decision is made on Monday 23rd September 2019, then the decision 
becomes effective on Tuesday 1st October 2019, so long as it is not called in 
by any five Members of the Council or the Chairman of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

97

mailto:c.pike@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



99

ChrisPike
Polygonal Line



This page is intentionally left blank



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

The Old Ambulance Station
Elm Street, Stamford, Lincolnshire

101



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Existing Photographs

102



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Outline Specification

Finishes

Walls
Ground floor
Office Exposed brickwork with painted plaster panels

Painted plasterboard on stud
Kitchen Exposed brickwork 

Painted plasterboard on stud
Ceramic tile splash back

WC Painted plasterboard on stud
Staircase/lobby Exposed brickwork 

Painted plasterboard on stud

Existing walls Exposed brickwork with painted plaster panels
New walls Painted plasterboard on stud

First Floor
Office/Meeting Exposed brickwork with painted plaster panels

Painted plasterboard on stud

Floor
Ground floor
Office Stone slabs 
Kitchen Non-slip ceramic tiles on screed
WC Rubber/Vinyl sheet
Staircase/lobby Rubber/Vinyl sheet

First Floor
Office/Meeting Timber 

Ceiling
Ground floor
Office Painted plasterboard with perforated plasterboard panels
Kitchen Painted plasterboard 
WC Painted plasterboard 

First Floor
Office/Meeting Painted plasterboard with perforated plasterboard panels

Sanitary Provision
Part M compliant wheelchair accessible WC washroom

Kitchen
Tea prep with counter, sink and drainer, base units and wall cupboards

Windows
Aluminium framed secondary glazing 

Internal Doors
Solidcore timber doorsets
Brushed stainless steel D-line type ironmongery

Services

Power
Galvanised surface mounted trunking, sockets and switches to brickwork 
areas.  Recessed sockets and switches to new partitions

Lighting
Ground floor
Office Suspended and recessed LED downlights
Kitchen Recessed LED downlights
WC Recessed LED downlights
Staircase/lobby Surface mounted LED wall lights 

First Floor
Office Suspended LED downlights 

Heating/ventilation
Mechanical ventilation and heat recovery system 
Galvanised ductwork and diffusers

103



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Ground Floor Plan (NTS)

Open plan office

Open
stair

Kitchen

DWC
Lobby

ELM STREET

EAST STREET

Entrance

Entrance

104



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

First Floor Plan (NTS)

Open plan office

Open
stair

Meeting
space105



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Section AA (NTS)

106



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Section BB (NTS)

1

2

1

2

107



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Cut-away

1

2

3

1

2

3

108



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Visual 01 - Exterior

Scan QR code with smart device
for panoramic visualisation

109



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Visual 02 - Exterior

Scan QR code with smart device
for panoramic visualisation

110



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Visual 03 – Ground Floor Office

111



Old Ambulance Station, Stamford

Visual 04 – First Floor Office

112



Document is Restricted

113

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

To approve the regeneration of a property in Stamford town centre as detailed 
in exempt Appendix 3, subject to the grant of planning permission. 

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the regeneration of a Council owned asset in Stamford town 
centre.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

This investment and regeneration project can access funding from the £10Million 
budget agreed by Council for that purpose.  The property currently has an annual 
cost to revenue of £1,300 per annum; development of the site is anticipated to 
create rental income, providing the Council with an additional source of revenue 
income.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The property, which is proposed for conversion will enable the Council to bring it 
back into use.  It is currently a vacant and dilapidated building and lies within an 
important part of Stamford’s town centre.  The conversion could deliver office 
space to the market and to improve the street scene.

It is proposed that the conversion of the building will be funded from the Council’s 
investment funding that was approved for 2019/20.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

None

115



Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

None

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and Property

Date of Decision: 23 September 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 23 September 2019

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

1 October 2019

116



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations

REPORT AUTHOR: Nova Roberts
Head of Customer Experience 
 

REPORT NO. HCE01
DATE: 17 September 2019

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Purchasing ICT hardware in order to deliver a fully agile 
workforce.

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT:

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

None 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

117

Appendix 3

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The report sets out an opportunity for the Council to create a fully agile 
workforce, to allow all employees to work off site where the need arises, and 
to compliment the culture and flexible way of working across the whole 
organisation for now and in the future. 

1.2 Initial funding was agreed for 18/19 and this report is for the remaining 
required funding to create a fully agile workforce and completed the roll out in 
19/20. 

1.3 This excludes member’s device allocation, which has been funded and 100% 
allocated in May 2019.

(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
approves a budget of up to £83,192 to be fully funded from the use of ICT 
reserve in order to procure the necessary ICT hardware. Currently the ICT 
reserve is at £173,000.  

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Agile working allows the council to deliver its services in the most cost 
effective manner whilst providing greater flexibility for employees in how they 
work, subject to business need and manager approval. 

 
3.2 The degree of work agility will depend on the service being delivered and the 

individual employee role.  As part of the Agile roll out, staff will have the 
capability to work flexibility in a number of ways. 
Typical examples include: 
- Working from a core office location using a ‘hot desk’
- Working from a District Council office desk anywhere in the district i.e.         
Bourne, Market Deeping, Stamford 
- Working from home 
- Working from external offices i.e. through a secure Wi-Fi connection 

3.3 Agile working also supports the climate change objectives by reducing officer 
travelling costs to traditional office bases. While the budget use is “up-to” we 
expect the demand and need for additional monitors and peripherals to be 
lower, but have maintained the value to allow for the contingency that more of 
these devices will be required. As the devices are being procured from a 
reserve budget, it is expected that we will minimise the demand on the reserve 
by reducing need, supplying only where necessary, and re-using and recycling 
existing stock where possible.

118



3.4 Desk numbers in the offices will be reduced and hot desks introduced 
therefore, reducing the requirement for all staff to have monitors and additional 
peripherals. The laptop, charger and bag are the only items that are provided 
to each officer with no other peripherals offered for home use. 

 3.5 So far, to the end of August 2019, we have completed Agile roll out to 165 
staff across the authority, this was funded through the OneSK budget in 18/19 
at a cost of £124,379. 

This leaves 183 staff that still need to have a laptop, monitor and accessories 
(the numbers of these to be reduced with the introduction of Agile offices). The 
current stock position is as follows:

Equipment In 
Stock 

To order
(Up to)

Cost 

Laptop 44 139 £78,585
Monitor 15 168 £26,862
Bag 0 183 £4,169
Keyboard 0 183 £1,761
Mouse 0 183 £1,141
Network Cable 0 183 £591

£113,109 
*Less HRA Re-charge £29,917
Total Required for the £83,192

The HRA fund is to be crossed charged for the laptops/monitors/accessories 
received by the Housing department or those due to be allocated. This is for a 
total of 39 staff for a cost of £29,917

 
(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 Director of Finance has advised the funds up to £83,192 are currently 
available to procure the necessary ICT hardware. 

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 No legal issues to note. Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer.

(6) OFFICER CONTACT

6.1 Nova Roberts, Head of Customer Experience
South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill
Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ
Tel: 01476 406506 Mobile:07970 412668

119



Email:nova.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

(7) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE: If decision is taken on Monday 28 October 
2019 date effective will be Wednesday 6 November subject to the 
decision not being called in.

120



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is granted for a budget up to £83,192 to be fully 
funded from the ICT reserve in order to procure the necessary ICT 
hardware to create a fully agile workforce.  The current ICT reserve 
stands at £173,000.
  

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for a budget of up to £83,192 from the use of ICT reserves 
in order to procure the necessary ICT hardware to create a fully agile 
workforce.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

Initial funding was agreed for 18/19 and the remaining required funding is 
required to create a fully agile workforce and complete the roll out in 19/20.  
This excludes member’s device allocation, which has been funded and 100% 
allocated in May 2019.   Agile working allows the council to deliver its 
services in the most cost effective manner whilst providing greater flexibility 
for employees in how they work, subject to business need and manager 
approval. 
 
The degree of work agility will depend on the service being delivered and the 
individual employee role.  As part of the Agile roll out, staff will have the 
capability to work flexibility in a number of ways. 
Typical examples include: 
- Working from a core office location using a ‘hot desk’
- Working from a District Council office desk anywhere in the district i.e.         
Bourne, Market Deeping, Stamford 
- Working from home 
- Working from external offices i.e. through a secure Wi-Fi connection 

(3) Reasons for Decision:

Agile working supports the climate change objectives by reducing officer 
travelling costs to traditional office bases. While the budget use is “up-to” we 
expect the demand and need for additional monitors and peripherals to be 
lower, but have maintained the value to allow for the contingency that more of 
these devices will be required. As the devices are being procured from a 

121



reserve budget, it is expected that we will minimise the demand on the 
reserve by reducing need, supplying only where necessary, and re-using and 
recycling existing stock where possible.

Desk numbers in the offices will be reduced and hot desks introduced 
therefore, reducing the requirement for all staff to have monitors and 
additional peripherals. The laptop, charger and bag are the only items that 
are provided to each officer with no other peripherals offered for home use. 

So far, to the end of August 2019, we have completed Agile roll out to 165 
staff across the authority, this was funded through the OneSK budget in 
18/19 at a cost of £124,379. 

This leaves 183 staff that still need to have a laptop, monitor and accessories 
(the numbers of these to be reduced with the introduction of Agile offices). 
The current stock position is as follows:

Equipment In 
Stock 

To order
(Up to)

Cost 

Laptop 44 139 £78,585
Monitor 15 168 £26,862
Bag 0 183 £4,169
Keyboard 0 183 £1,761
Mouse 0 183 £1,141
Network Cable 0 183 £591

£113,109 
*Less HRA Re-charge £29,917
Total Required for the £83,192

The HRA fund is to be crossed charged for the 
laptops/monitors/accessories received by the Housing department or 
those due to be allocated. This is for a total of 39 staff for a cost of 
£29,917.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

122



Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Date of Decision: 28 October 2019

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 29 October 2019 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

6 November 2019 

123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Review of Gambling Statement of Principles (Policy Framework Proposal)
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods and People: Principles (Key Decision)
	2019-10-8 - Cabinet - Tree Guidelines - App 1 Tree Charter

	6 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	OSC_App1

	10 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	RIM 0423 Purchase of Property in Grantham Non Key decision FINAL (00000003)
	RIM 0423 Appendix
	RIM 0423 Appendix B
	BD RIM0423 23.09.19
	PD0129 150819 - Regeneration for SKDC owned building Stamford (002)
	Appendix 1 - Site Plan
	Appendix 2 - Architect Drawings
	Exempt Appendix 3 - Summary of Costs
	KC PD0129 23.09.19
	Non Key Decision Form ICT_Agile Tranche  - Final NR
	PM HCE01 28.10.19


